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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”)
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate
companies to which a high investment risk may be attached. In
particular, companies may list on GEM with neither a track record of
profitability nor any obligation to forecast future profitability.
Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of the emerging nature of
companies listed on GEM and the business sectors or countries in
which the companies operate. Prospective investors should be aware of
the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater
risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market

more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is
given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication
on the internet website operated by the Stock Exchange. Listed
companies are not generally required to issue paid announcements in
gazetted newspapers. Accordingly, prospective investors should note
that they need to have access to the GEM website in order to obtain

up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Asian
Information Resources (Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) will be held
at 19th Floor, First Pacific Bank Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong on Friday, 26th April, 2002 at 4:00 p.m. for the following

purposes:

1. To receive and consider the Audited Financial Statements and the
Reports of the Directors and Auditors for the year ended 31st
December, 2001;

2. To re-elect retiring Directors and authorise the Board of Directors

to fix their remuneration;

3. To re-appoint Arthur Andersen & Co as Auditors and authorise

the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration;

and, as special business, to consider and, if thought fit, passing the
following resolutions with or without amendments as ordinary

resolutions:
ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
4. THAT:

(@) subject to paragraph (c) below of this Resolution no.4,
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, the exercise by the Directors of the Company
during the Relevant Period (as defined below) of all the
powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with unissued
shares of HK$0.1 each in the capital of the Company (“the
Shares”) or securities convertible into Shares, or options,
warrants or similar rights to subscribe for any Shares and to
make or grant offers, agreements and options which might
require the exercise of such powers be and the same is

hereby generally and unconditionally approved;
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

the approval in paragraph (a) above shall authorise the
Directors of the Company during the Relevant Period to
make or grant offers, agreements and options which might
require the exercise of such powers after the end of the

Relevant Period;

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted or
agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted
(whether pursuant to options or otherwise) by the Directors
of the Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a)
above, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as
hereinafter defined); or (ii) the exercise of rights of
subscription or conversion under terms of any warrants
issued by the Company or any securities which are
convertible into Shares; or (iii) the exercise of any option
under any share option scheme or similar arrangement for
the time being adopted for the grant or issue to officers
and/or employees of the Company and/or any of its
subsidiaries of Shares or right to acquire Shares; or (iv) any
scrip dividend or similar arrangement providing for the
allotment of Shares in lieu of the whole or part of a dividend
on Shares in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company in force from time to time; shall not exceed

the aggregate of:

(i) 20 per cent of the aggregate nominal amount of the
share capital of the Company in issue on the date of

passing this Resolution; and

(i) (if the Directors of the Company are so authorised by
a separate ordinary resolution of the shareholders of
the Company) the nominal amount of any share capital
of the Company repurchased by the Company
subsequent to passing this Resolution (up to a
maximum equivalent to 10 per cent of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company
in issue on the date of passing this Resolution), and
the authority pursuant to paragraph (a) of this

Resolution shall be limited accordingly; and
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

for the purpose of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the date of passing

this Resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of

the Company; or

(i)  the expiration of the period within which the next
annual general meeting of the Company is required
by the articles of association of the Company, the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands or any other

applicable law of the Cayman Islands to be held; or

(iii) the passing of an ordinary resolution by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting
revoking or varying the authority given to the Directors

of the Company by this Resolution; and

“Rights Issue” means an offer of Shares, or offer or issue of
warrant, options or other securities giving rights to subscribe
for Shares open for a period fixed by the Directors of the
Company to holders of shares in the Company on the register
on a fixed record date in proportion to their then holdings
of shares (subject to such exclusion or other arrangements
as the Directors of the Company may deem necessary or
expedient in relation to fractional entitlements, or having
regard to any restrictions or obligations under the laws of,
or the requirements of, or the expense or delay which may
be involved in determining the existence or extent of any
restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or the
requirements of, any jurisdiction outside Hong Kong or any
recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange outside

Hong Kong applicable to the Company).
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

5.

THAT:

(a)

Subject to paragraph (b) below of this Resolution no. 5, the
exercise by the Directors of the Company during the Relevant
Period of all powers of the Company to repurchase its Shares
on the Growth Enterprise Market operated by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited or any other stock exchange
on which the shares of the Company may be listed and
recognised by the Securities and Futures Commission of
Hong Kong and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
for such purpose, and otherwise in accordance with the
rules and regulations of the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong, The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, the articles of association of the Company,
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and all other
applicable laws in this regard, be and the same is hereby

generally and unconditionally approved;

the aggregate nominal amount of Shares of the Company
which may be repurchased by the Company pursuant to the
approval in paragraph (a) above during the Relevant Period
shall not exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate nominal
amount of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of passing this Resolution and the authority pursuant
to paragaraph (a) of this Resolution shall be limited

accordingly; and

for the purpose of this Resolution, “Relevant Period” means
the period from the date of passing this Resolution until

whichever is the earliest of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of

the Company; or

(ii)  the expiration of the period within which the next
annual general meeting of the Company is required
by the articles of association of the Company, the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands or any other

applicable law of the Cayman Islands to be held; or
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

(iii) the passing of an ordinary resolution by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting
revoking or varying the authority given to the Directors

of the Company by this Resolution.

6.  THAT, subject to the passing of the Ordinary Resolutions no. 4
and 5, the Directors of the Company be and they are hereby
authorised to exercise the authority referred to in paragraph (a) of
Resolution no. 4 above in respect of the share capital of the
Company referred to in sub-paragraph (ii) of paragraph (c) of

such Resolution.

By Order of the Board
Tung Vincent

Company Secretary
Hong Kong, 22nd March, 2002

Registered Office:

Century Yard, Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681GT
George Town, Grand Cayman
British West Indies

Head Office and Principal Place of Business:
19th Floor, First Pacific Bank Centre

56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai

Hong Kong
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notes:

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting convened by the
above notice is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote on

his behalf. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

To be valid, this form of proxy, duly signed, together with the power of
attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially
certified copy of such power or authority, must be deposited at the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars
Limited, at 2nd Floor, Vicwood Plaza, 199 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong

Kong not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.

In relation to proposed resolutions nos. 4 and 6 above, approval is being
sought from the shareholders for the grant to the Directors of a general
mandate to authorise the allotment and issue of shares under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Directors have no immediate
plans to issue any new shares of the Company other than shares which may
fall to be issued under the share option scheme of the Company or any scrip

dividend scheme which may be approved by shareholders.

In relation to proposed resolution no. 5 above, the Directors wish to state
that they will exercise the powers conferred thereby to repurchase shares in
circumstances which they deem appropriate for the benefit of the shareholders.
An explanatory statement containing the information necessary to enable the
shareholders to make an informed decision to vote on the proposed resolution
as required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited will be set
out in a separate document to be despatched to the shareholders with the

annual report for the year ended 31st December 2001.
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Chairman’s Statement

CHAIRMAN STATEMENT, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

Year 2001 is a challenging year to Asian Information Resources
(Holdings) Limited. Facing the extremely difficult economic environment
and the general pessimistic anticipation on the Internet business, the
management has taken a series of downsizing and divesting measures
to control the operating cost of the Group. The Group successfully
reduced its net cash outflow by 40% to HK$44 million, compared to
HK$73.6 million in the previous year.

Financial Review

The Group’s consolidated turnover for the year ended 31st December
2001 reduced 65% to HK$4 million, compared to HK$11.5 million in
the previous fiscal year. The decrease is mainly attributed to the decline
of income of Internet solution service, which reduced 80% to HK$1.1

million, compared to HK$5.6 million in the previous fiscal year.

Consolidated loss attributable to shareholders rose to approximately
HK$70.8 million from HK$48.7 million in the last year. The significant

increase in the loss was mainly attributed to two areas:

1)) Provision for doubtful loans receivable

The Group had reviewed and evaluated the recoverability of the
loans receivable granted in the previous year and taken a
conservative accounting approach to provide for the doubtful
loans receivable. A provision of HK$15.4 million was recorded
in year 2001, representing 100% of the principal of the loans
receivable. Such provision accounted for 22% of the total

consolidated loss.
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Chairman’s Statement

(2)  Net loss on investment in associates

The net loss on investment in associates has increased to HK$6.8
million from HK$0.6 million in the last year. It is mainly due to
a one-time dilution gain of HK$7.7 million on shares in an
associate, Verticalsquare.com Holding Inc. (owner of
www.i-textile.com), was recorded last year. The net loss included
a provision on the receivables from an associate, Knowledge
Base Holdings Limited (owner of www.admortgage.com)
amounting to HK$2.3 million. The net loss accounted for 10%

of the total consolidated loss.

During the reporting period, the management has carried a series of
cost saving measures to reduce the overhead of the Group. The loss
from operations for the forth quarter excluding restructuring cost,
provision for doubtful loans receivable, provision for impairment of
fixed assets and impairment of goodwill from acquisitions of associates
was approximately HK$5.7 million, representing a decrease of 33%

over the third quarter.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31st December, 2001, the Group has short-term bank loans
denominated in Renminbi amounted to HK$13.6 million secured by
HK$14.5 million bank deposits. This included a bank loan amounted
to HK$10.6 million repayable on or before 23rd June, 2002 and a bank
loan amounted to HK$3 million repayable on or before 17th June,
2002.

As at 31st December, 2001, shareholders’ fund of the Group amounted
to HK$31.4 million. Current assets amounted HK$49.3 million, of which
HK$33 million (including HK$3.5 million pledged bank deposit released

after year end) is cash and bank deposits.
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Chairman’s Statement

Operational Review

Content division

The Group’s content licensing business continued to suffer from sluggish
Internet industry. Following the burst of the technology boom in year
2000, most companies either withheld their expansion plans or
significantly reduced the information supply to their portals. Such macro
environment has seriously hindered the development of our business.
During the year, the Group has made effort to diversify its content
division to production and distribution of industry research reports.
However, the response from the market has so far been dissatisfactory
and this business could only generate insignificant revenue flow

(representing 10% of the total turnover) to the Group.

Confronted with these challenges, the Group has carried out a series of
cost control exercises including streamlining workforce and reducing
overhead expenses in order to enhance its competitiveness. As part of
the restructuring exercise, the research report team has been disbanded
during the year. High profile advertisement programs were also

withdrawn to reduce the overheads.
Internet solution service division

Same as the content licensing business, the Internet solution service
division suffered seriously from the difficult operating environment of
the Internet industry. After the burst of the technology boom, companies
generally postponed or discontinued their capital expenditure on
information technology. As a result, the management has significantly
reduced the division’s operation so as to preserve the healthy liquidity

position of the Group.
Strategic investment

During the year, the Group reviewed its investment portfolio and decided
to close down those operations with unpromising prospects.
Restructuring cost of HK$2.8 million was incurred during the divestment
process. The management will continue to closely monitor the remaining
portfolio and take necessary actions to improve the overall profitability

of its investment portfolio.
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Chairman’s Statement

Significant Change of Personnel

Mr. Ho Wing Yiu has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the
Group on 6th February 2002. Mr. Ho brings to the Group over 13 years
of international and China experience in the fields of eCommence,
logistics and telecommunications. Before joining the Group, Mr. Ho
has led and managed a number of high profile projects in logistics,
eCommerce and telecommunication field. The Board believes that he is
fully capable in driving the Group’s business to a new perspective and

enhancing the existing operations.

Employee And Remuneration Policies

The Group had 48 employees as at 31st December, 2001. The Group's
remuneration policies are in line with prevailing market practices and
formulated on the basis of performance and experience of the

employees.

The Company maintains a share option scheme and no share options

were granted or exercised during the period.

PROSPECT

The Group will continue to consolidate its business and maintain
prudent control on costs. Over the period, the Group has built up a
library of industry research and statistic data. Strategic plan is developed
to utilize and enhance this resource to provide revenue stream to the

Group.

The Group will continue to invest in companies that can create new
business opportunities for traditional businesses by making use of
information and Internet technology. The Group will also keep its growth

by making strategic investment that can complement its core business.

Leung Chung Wan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 22nd March, 2002
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Progress Against Business Objectives

Six months ended 30th June 2001

According to the business
objectives as stated in the
prospectus dated 7th December
1999

Content Development
1. Start

providing daily

industrial news and
periodical industrial reports
in Japanese covering selected

industries in the PRC

2. Start providing city reports
in English and Japanese for

selected cities in the PRC

3. Launch English version of
China professional business
information package such as

taxation, customs and duty

eCommerce Development
1. Launch an eCommerce
platform with local partner(s)
for online shopping in the
PRC

Product and Technology Development

1. Continue to develop and
enhance the proprietary
system, technology, products

and services of the Group

Actual business progress in
respect of the six months period
ended 30th June 2001

The Group aborted the provision
of daily industrial news and
periodical industrial reports in
Japanese as the cost does not

justify the benefits.

The provision of city reports in
Japanese was aborted, as the cost

does not justify the benefits.

The English version of China
professional business information
package will be provided via the
information platforms of the Group.
These platforms have entered the

final stage of their development.

In line with the repositioning
strategies, the Group withdrew the
project due to global negative

sentiments towards B2C

The

Chinareference.com and re-

Group has revamped

launched in the fourth quarter.
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Progress Against Business Objectives

Market Penetration

1. Set up a representative office

in Europe

2. Form a distribution
partnership in Europe and

Singapore respectively

3. Continue promotion and
marketing activities in
Greater China and other

regions

The Group will leverage on the
global distribution partners to
penetrate into the European

market.

The Group further reinforced the
global network with 5 more
distribution partners, including
Multex, Lexis Nexis, Turpin,
Internet Securities Inc. and APT
Strategies. Networked with 12
global distribution partners, the
Group’s products are available to

the global market.

The Group has participated in the
“Asia International Book Fair” and
“International Library Expo 2001”
of Singapore in April 2001, the
“Special Libraries Association
Annual Conference” of U.S.A. in
June 2001 and the “SME Market
Day” of Hong Kong in July 2001.

On the other hand, the Group
continues to leverage its office in
Beijing, Guangzhou, and Taiwan
for business development in the

Greater China Region.
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Progress Against Business Objectives

Resources Employment

1. Employ additional staff for

content development

2. Employ additional staff for

editing work

3. Employ additional technical

staff for systems

development

4. Out-source translation work

to professional translators

5.  Budget to be allocated for

promotion campaigns

6. Budget to be allocated for
setting up a representative

office

7. Budget to be allocated for

eCommerce development

During the six months ended 30th
June 2001, no additional staff was
added.

During the six months ended 30th

June 2001, no additional

headcount was added.

During the six months ended 30th
June 2001, no

headcount was added.

additional

Translation work of PRC Law
database and research report has
been outsourced to professional

translator during the period.

For the six months ended 30th
June 20071,
promotion campaigns amounted

to approximately HK$2,901,000.

the total costs for

The Group has aborted its plan to
set up a new representative office

in Europe during the period.

For the six months ended 30th
June 2001, the fund applied for
eCommerce development
amounted approximately to

HK$3,750,000.
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Progress Against Business Objectives

Six months ended 31st December
2001

According to the business
objectives as stated in the
prospectus dated 7th December
1999

Content Development
1. Launch the Japanese version

of China

business

professional
information
package such as taxation,

customs and duty

2. Enhance the Chinese version
of PRC city reports to cover

about 40 major cities

3. Enhance the English and
Japanese versions of PRC

city reports

4. Complete translation into
English and Japanese of and
the third batch of laws and
regulations of the PRC

Actual business progress in
respect of the six months period
ended 31st December 2001

The Group aborted the launch of
Japanese version of China
professional business information
package as the cost does not

justify the benefits.

Due to poor market response,

enhancement has been

postphoned.

The English version of China
professional business information
package will be provided via the
information platforms of the
Group. These platforms have
entered the final stage of their

development.

The Group aborted the translation

of Japanese of laws and
regulations as the cost does not

justify the benefits.

BREER-AAIF
+t=ZRtBXAFH
TeRRERIER
B

EMmA®

1. HEHAXRZE
BB H R E
EXmEEAE
£

2. PNSRH R
BmmEs &
ERN40EEEF
B

3. MR - HXAR
ZH BT RS

4. TERBEE=R
R ELE G KA AR
REXRAEX

RE-2B-51=
A=+-BiEAEA
BREBER

=N = PN 9
Hfl - A EEUR
HEHBEXRZEXER
BERER -

mRmHRENE
WEE MR EE -

AEERNALS 2
Bl F e Rt EXR
CEXBEEME
K- -ZEFacEA
REFAEEE -

=N = PN 9
BBl MAKERL
BREOIRERRAB
X o



Progress Against Business Objectives

eCommerce Development

1. Continue to improve and
expand the existing

eCommerce operations

Product and Technology

Development

1. Continue to develop and
enhance the proprietary
system, technology, products
and services of the Group

Market Penetration

1. Increase market share

through working closely

distribution

with local

partners

2. Continue promotion and
marketing activities in
Greater China and other

regions

In line with the repositioning
strategies, the Group withdrew the
project due to global negative

sentiments towards B2C.

The Group has revamped the
Chinareference.com, and re-
launched in fourth quarter of
2001.

The Group has leveraged on the
global distribution partners to
penetrate into the PRC, Hong

Kong and International market.

The Group continues to leverage
its office in Beijing, Guangzhou,
and Taiwan for business
development in the Greater China

Region.
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Progress Against Business Objectives

Resources Employment

1. Employ additional full time

editors

2. Out-source the translation
work to professional

translators

3. Budget to be allocated for

promotion

4. Budget to be allocated for

eCommerce development

During the six months ended 31st
December 2001, no additional
staff was added.

Translation work of PRC Law
database has been outsourced to
professional translator during the

period.

For the six months ended 31st
December 2001, the total costs for
promotion campaigns amounted
to approximately HK$1,254,000

For the six months ended 31st
December 2001, the fund applied
for eCommerce development
amounted approximately to
HK$1,140,000
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Chung Wan

Mr. Leung Chung Wan, aged 51, is the Chairman of the Company. He

is responsible for the strategic planning and development of the Group.

Mr. Leung has more than 26 years experience in education and
administrative management. Before joining the Group in 1996, he
worked as division chief of the Department of Education, Science and
Technology for Xinhua News Agency, Hong Kong Branch (the former
name of Liaison Office of the Central People’s Government in the Hong

Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”)).

Mr. Leung was appointed by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR
Government as a member of the Curriculum Development Council in
1999 and as a member of the Board of Review (Film Censorship) in
1997. As an appointed member of the steering committee of Hong
Kong Education City in 2000, Mr. Leung has made many efforts to
bring information technology into traditional education. He is also a
member of Appeals Board (Education) and the newly founded Hong

Kong Parent Education Board.

Mr. Leung has played a leading role in various community service
bodies and makes a valuable contribution to the community, as honorary
president of the Hong Kong East Parent Teacher Association Federation,
President of the Alliance of Hong Kong Youth Groups, and president of
the Hong Kong New Generation Cultural Association. In 2000, the
HKSAR Government awarded Mr. Leung the Medal of Honor in
recognition of his outstanding service and commitment to the

community.
Mr. Ho Wing Yiu

Mr. Ho Wing Yiu, aged 38, joined the Group as chief executive officer,
managing director and executive director in 2002. Mr. Ho has over 13
years of first rated international and China experience in the fields of
telecommunications, media, technology (TMT), e-Commerce and

logistics.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ho has led and managed many high
profile projects in the technology and logistics field, such as “On-line
Payment Gateway and Certificate of Authority Services in China”, “B2B
and B2C Internet Portal” funded by government of Hong Kong, “Third
Generation Mobile Phone and Wireless Internet Business Valuation”,
“B2B e-Commerce Platform and Logistic Service in China”, “Master
planning of a State Level Science Park in China”, and “Business Planning

for the logistics development in Northern China”.

Mr. Ho holds a research degree in M.Phil (Economics) with distinction
research award (George Webb Medley Prize) specializing in the areas
of technology transfer, international investment and industrial strategy

behavior.
Ms. Tam Yee Wa Jojo

Ms. Tam, aged 40, is the executive director of the Group. She works
closely with the Company’s Chief Executive Officer to develop corporate
business strategies, leads the Group’s efforts in overall development

and forges alliances and ventures for the company.

Before joining the Group in 1999, Ms. Tam conducted research and
taught at various universities. In June 1991, she founded the human
rights laws research and database project, which became the Law-On-
Line database project in 1993 at the Faculty of Law at the University of
Hong Kong. She has been a visiting researcher at the Global Information

and Telecommunications Institute at Waseda University, Japan.

Ms. Tam has an academic background in media studies. She holds a

Master’s Degree in Development Studies and a Master’s Degree in Law.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Ong Yvette

Ms. Ong, aged 37, joined the Group in 1999. Ms. Ong has over 10
years of experience in the information technology industry in Asian
Pacific. Ms. Ong is the managing director and chief executive officer of
New World CyberBase Limited. Prior to joining New World CyberBase
Limited, Ms. Ong was the managing director of AT&T EasyLink Services
Asia Pacific Limited. She joined AT&T in 1991 initially focusing in the

sales and marketing of data communications services.

Ms. Ong holds a Master Degree of Business Administration in
Management Information Systems and a Bachelor Degree in Finance

and Management from the University of San Francisco, U.S.A.
Mr. Lo Mun Lam Raymond

Mr. Lo, aged 48, is a Director of an investment advisory firm in Hong
Kong. Mr. Lo is a corporate finance professional registered as an
investment advisor with Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission.
He had served in many Hong Kong listed companies with major
investments in China and venture capitalist firms as advisor, director
and financial strategist. Mr. Lo once headed the corporate finance
division of a local listed bank and served as Principal of an international
accounting and consulting firm in Toronto. Mr. Lo graduated in Business
Administration from University of Wisconsin, USA and qualified as a
Chartered Accountant with the Canadian, and the England & Wales

Institutes.
Dr. Lo Wai Shun

Dr. Lo, age 40, joined the Group in 2002. Dr. Lo has been working in the
information technology industry for more than 11 years. He is currently
the chief executive officer of a Hong Kong-based investment management
company engaged in venture capital and incubation activities. Dr. Lo is
also a non-executive director of 1IN International Limited, a company

listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of Hong Kong.

Dr. Lo also serves as a member of the Panel of Assessors for the Small
Enterprise Research Assistance Program under the Innovation and

Technology Commission of Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

Dr. Lo holds a Ph.D. in Theoretical Physics with Brown University of
United States and bachelor degree in Science from the Chinese

University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Pang Wai Lim

Mr. Pang, aged 42, joined the Group in 2002. He is a senior partner of
Pang Hon & Partners. Mr. Pang is an associate member of Hong Kong
Society of Accountants, and has over 17 years of experience in auditing

and finance.
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Law Shiu Kai Andrew

Mr. Law, aged 42, is a solicitor qualified to practise in Hong Kong,
Australia and the United Kingdom. He has devoted extensive efforts to
both business and law relating to the information technology industry.
Mr. Law has been honorary legal advisor to the Hong Kong Computer
Society since 1988 and the chairman of Management and Technology
for the Professional Practice Committee of the Law Society of Hong

Kong since 1995.
Dr. Yuen Man Chun Royce

Dr. Yuen, age 38, joined the Group in 2002. Dr. Yuen is a founder and
currently a chief executive officer of The Kitchen Limited, a company
offering business solutions by integrating business strategies, technology
and creative services. Prior to founding The Kitchen Limited, Dr. Yuen
was the Chief Marketing Officer of the eCommerce division of a
multnational blue chip conglomerate in Hong Kong. Before that, Dr.
Yuen has also held other senior positions at various organizations
including Executive Director of the Hong Kong Futures Exchange and

Managing Director of Ogilvy & Mather.

Dr. Yuen also serves as an executive committee member of the Bradbury
Hospice of the Hospital Authority and a board member of Board of
Governors of the Institute for Health Policy and Systems Research. He
is also a Visiting Fellow of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University,

lecturing its MBA program.

Dr. Yuen holds a Doctor Degree in Business Administration and a Master

of Arts in Marketing.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Lee Patrick

Mr. Lee, aged 36, joined the Group in 2002 as the Financial Controller.
He is responsible for the overall financial control and management of
the Group. Mr. Lee has over 13 years of high level financial and general
management experience. He has served as senior executive in a number
of listed companies and MNCs in the fields of telecom, logistics,

transportation, distribution, retail and travel sectors.

Mr. Lee is an associate member of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants
and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He graduated from The Polytechnic University of Hong

Kong.
Mr. Tung Vincent

Mr. Tung, aged 30, is the Qualified Accountant and Company Secretary
of the Company. He is responsible for managing the Group’s finance
and accounting operations, performing statutory and management
financial reporting. Prior to joining the Group in 2000, Mr. Tung has
over 8 years of experience in auditing, accounting and regulatory fields
including 5 years in an international accounting firm responsible for
blue chip clients. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Society

of Accountants.

Mr. Tung graduated from the City University of Hong Kong where he

earned a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Accountancy.

FEE 3om R-TET_FHEAKEZHB
BE EESECERBHME - FRLEABER
FHRAMBEREBERLR EREXLTAA
MEBRCREISRTHERRML BEEA Y
Bl kX TENMRETENSELR -

SN
it

FRABRERGHMLEEE RABSIT SR
NEZERER  EERBBEIKRE -

ERBELLE

B4 305 AAREMEAMRLARAWE -

BERAKEMBERETER  LRITEERA
HEEZER  -N_TTTEMALKER  EX
EHBBOFEN S RMBEECIELR -
EbsFIRBERSFMERN AEARESD
EXP-EXRABRBREHNLEZEE -

ERLEENERRTAR  SHEGHBLEM -



Report of the Directors

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The Directors have the pleasure of presenting the annual report together
with the audited financial statements of Asian Information Resources
(Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as
December, 2001.

“the Group”) for the year ended 31st

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the provision of on-line content information
and related technical services, information technology solutions and

consultancy services, and strategic investment holdings.

Analysis of the Group’s turnover and loss from operations for the year

ended 31st December, 2001 by principal activities are as follows:

RERXBE D 20 —

By principal activities —

Content solution Bt
IT enabling technology & A B K B AR 5

— Internet solution service fees
— HERH

— Sales of accessories
— IT consultancy services

Strategic investment RERE
— Consultancy project fees — EFEBER
Unallocated corporate expenses RO EEERX

No geographical analysis of the Group’s turnover and loss from
operations are presented as less than 10% of the consolidated turnover
and less than 10% of the consolidated loss from operations of the

Group are attributable to markets outside Hong Kong.
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Report of the Directors

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2001, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 45% of the Group’s total turnover and the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 53% of
the Group’s total purchases. The largest customer to the Group accounted
for approximately 21% of the Group’s total turnover while the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 20% of the Group’s total
purchases.

As at 31st December, 2001, none of the directors, their associates, or
any shareholder (who, to the knowledge of the directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in

the abovementioned major customers and suppliers.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st December, 2001
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 39 of this

annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and
recommend that the Company’s accumulated loss of $117,810,000
(2000 - $47,032,000) as at 31st December, 2001 be carried forward.

RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSS

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year

are set out in Note 23 to the accompanying financial statements.

As at 31st December, 2001, the Company has no reserves available for
distribution to shareholders (2000 - $54,557,000) in accordance with
the Companies Law (as amended) of the Cayman Islands and the

Company’s articles of association.
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Report of the Directors

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Movements in share capital and details of the share option scheme of
the Company are set out in Notes 21 and 22, respectively to the

accompanying financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31st December, 2001.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association and there is no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries and associates are set out in

Notes 14 and 15, respectively to the accompanying financial statements.
FIXED ASSETS

Movements in fixed assets during the year are set out in Note 13 to the

accompanying financial statements.
BANK LOANS

Particulars of bank loans as at 31st December, 2001 are set out in Note

28 to the accompanying financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

THREE YEAR SUMMARY =EHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group ASERBA-ATBREFE 7 £ELEEHEEM
for the last three financial years is as follows: ZmT

Results of the Group
for the three years ended 31st December

BEt-A=t-HL=BFE

KEBEE
2001 2000 1999
$7000 $7000 $7000
F FiT FiT
Turnover S 4,011 11,494 7,473
Loss attributable to shareholders P& R FE (L B 18 (70,778) (48,661) (1,396)
Loss per share (cents) FREE () (14.9) (10.2) (0.5)
Assets and liabilities of the Group
as at 31st December
+=ZA=+—8
rEBEERAE
2001 2000 1999
$7000 $7000 $7000
F FiT FiT
Total assets BEERE 50,581 122,093 154,212
Less: Total liabilities W BEBEER
and minority interests DERRE R (19,178) (19,912) (2,195)
Total net assets BEFELE 31,403 102,181 152,017
PENSION SCHEME Rk E

Particulars of pension scheme are set out in Note 27 to the financial —E{RET & 2 BEII N T B REM E27 -
statements.



Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS EE

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this RAFERBEAFEAERIESHT

report are:

Executive directors BITES
Mr. Leung Chung Wan (Chairman) RWEE (F/E)
Mr. Ho Wing Yiu (Chief Executive Officer) FISRIBL A (TTHAEE)

(Appointed on 6th February, 2002) (R-_FE_F_ANAEEZHE)
Ms. Tam Yee Wa Jojo HEBEL L
Mr. Chan Chi Ming BRAEMALAE

(Resigned on 20th June, 2001) (R—ZFEZE—FNA -+ HFT)
Mr. Chau Tak Tin AfEELE

(Re-designated as an executive director on 8th June, 2001 and resigned (RZZZ—FR AN\BEZTAHTES I

on 20th February, 2002) RZZBZE_F_AZ+HEE)

Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Ong Yvette SEmERL
Mr. Lo Mun Lam Raymond EBREE

(Appointed on 8th June, 2001) (RZZEZE-FANBEZE)
Dr. Lo Wai Shun BHEEEL

(Appointed on 9th January, 2002) (RZ_ZZ_F—-RANBEZE)
Mr. Pang Wai Lim CEREE

(Appointed on 9th January, 2002) (R_ZZE_F—-ANBEZE)
Mr. Chau Tak Tin AfRELE

(Re-designated as an executive director on 8th June, 2001) (RZZZ—F A/\BEIHTES)
Mr. Kwan Pun Fong Vincent Bm ks

(Resigned on 20th February, 2002) (RZZZ_F_R_-_t+HEME)



Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS (Cont’d)
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Law Shiu Kai Andrew
Dr. Yuen Man Chun Royce
(Appointed on 9th January, 2002)
Mr. To Hin Tsun Gerald
(Resigned on 30th August, 2001)
Mr. Peter Francis Amour

(Resigned on 21st January, 2002)

All non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors

have been appointed for a term of one year.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, Ms.
Ong Yvette, Mr. Lo Mun Lam Raymond, Dr. Lo Wai Shun, Mr. Pang Wai
Lim and Dr. Yuen Man Chun Royce will retire from office and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. All other remaining directors

continue in office.
DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forth
coming annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation other than statutory

compensation.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES

As at 31st December, 2001, the interests of the directors of the Company
in the shares and options of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of the Securities (Disclosure of Interests) Ordinance
(“the SDI Ordinance”), as required to be recorded in the register
maintained by the Company under Section 29 of the SDI Ordinance

were as follows:

EE ()

URBITES

BOBELE
RXEET
(ﬁ_?7_¢ ANBEZT)
HEELSE
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[ 32 5 A
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F o

ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂZ@ﬂ%%'%%%ﬁt~E@ﬁ%
GERL  ZRREAERRABLZEH

%%@i CHEABERYRIREEE - AEEME

FHMEERE -

EEREEN

REEEITZIRRBEFAS LIREETZRES
MEEARBTEEANARRAR - FANNEE

CEERERIN ARERIE 2 REMRBEL
ESvREAEBSEE
RZFZE-F+_A=1—F REXAQFKES

(BEER) R0 ([REEREN]) £296FEZ
TRMmE  AAREEHEZARRRABERD
A(EERBEERGD) RO R BAREEZ W
T



Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES (Cont’d)

M

Directors’ interests in shares

Ordinary shares with par value of $0.1 each.

EEvRAFTSER (F)
(1 EFzROER
BREEITZEBK

Number of ordinary shares held

FEEERYE
Name Personal interest Corporate interest* Total
#E (5PN 5 DA R &t
Mr. Leung Chung Wan Rk E 960,000 264,934,000(Note 7% 1) 265,894,000
Ms. Tam Yee Wa Jojo IEERL LT — 264,934,000(Note 7 1) 264,934,000
Mr. Chau Tak Tin BE k4 — 264,934,000(Note i 1) 264,934,000
Mr. Kwan Pun Fong Vincent — B m7 %4 — 15,700,000(Note it 2) 15,700,000

* Shares held in corporate interest represent those shares beneficially
owned by a company in which the relevant director was deemed to be
entitled under the SDI Ordinance to exercise or control the exercise of
one third or more of the voting power at its general meeting.

Notes:

1. Asian Dynamics International Limited (“Asian Dynamics”) holds
264,934,000 shares of the Company. Asian Dynamics is beneficially
owned, inter alia, as to 21.87% by Mr. Leung Chung Wan; 6.51% by
Ms. Tam Yee Wa Jojo; and 10.94% by Mr. Chau Tak Tin.

2. Hinful Capital Limited (“Hinful Capital”) holds 15,700,000 shares of
the Company. Hinful Capital is beneficially owned as to 49.25% by
Mr. Kwan Pun Fong Vincent and his spouse.

Directors’ rights to acquire shares

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company on
2nd December, 1999, a duly authorised committee of the board
of directors may, at its discretion, invite any full-time employee
(including executive directors) of the Company and its subsidiaries
to take up options to subscribe for shares in the Company subject
to the terms and conditions stipulated therein.

On 25th January, 2000, the Company granted 320,000 share
options with an exercise price of $0.89 per share in favour of Mr.
Leung Chung Wan and Ms. Tam Yee Wa Jojo respectively. On
15th June, 2000, the Company granted 1,000,000 and 1,500,000
share options with an exercise price of $0.47 per share in favour
of Mr. Leung Chung Wan and Ms. Tam Yee Wa Jojo respectively.
During the year, no share options were exercised.

* NARBENAREZBENIEEHESRER
B O AR R AT IT R S B ATT AR
RERER=HZ—FINLZREMESER
2D

i

1. Asian Dynamics International Limited ([ Asian
Dynamics]) #5264,934,0000 & 2 &1 & 15 -
il Asian Dynamics 8| R R %4 - RGEL
TRAZBEEDAEEL21.87%  6.51%R
10.94% °

2. HBRpEERAAR(ERN@ME])HHA
15,700,000 A2 @ Brfn - MR EL & Bl
mMARERERBESEF49.25% °

Q2 ESBARGZEF
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BAEE EFELAREREEHER
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AR B 2 B A -
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES (Cont’d)
(2) Directors’ rights to acquire shares (Cont’d)

As at 31st December, 2001, the outstanding share options granted

in favour of the directors were as follows:

ExcRABSES (B)

2 EFBARGZERN (&)

HE-FT-Ft-A=1—R SEFE
B RTEZBRRNT

Number of Exercisable period Exercise
Name share options A prices
i BREHA From H To 2 TEE
Mr. Leung Chung Wan 320,000 25th January, 2000 24th January, 2003 $0.89
REBHLE 320,000 “TTTE-A-+EA  ZET=F-A-1MWmA 0.897C
1,000,000 15th June, 2000 14th June, 2003 $0.47
1,000,000 —EFRFEAATEA —EF-FA ATHA 0477
Ms. Tam Yee Wa Jojo 320,000 25th January, 2000 24th January, 2003 $0.89
RBELL 320,000 “EEEF-A-+HER —EE=F-A-1mA 0.897
1,500,000 15th June, 2000 14th June, 2003 $0.47
1,500,000 —EFRFAATEA —EF-FX ATHA 0.477C

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors of the Company or their
associates had, as at 31st December, 2001, any interests in the shares
of the Company or its associated corporations as recorded in the register

required to be kept under Section 29 of the SDI Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding companies
was a party and in which any of the Company’s directors or members
of its management had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

fREXFBEEIN  RZTEE-—F+A=+—
A REARARBEBEESGIS2IRFEZE
s ARREZRRECHBATIERS
AR REBERRMEMBRNES -

EECANRER

RAFEZRELFRNEMER - ARF - HREL
AR AR RET EMSRAREEB AR
ACESRERAEERAMARAEEARRZLE

BAH -



Report of the Directors

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31st December, 2001, the register required to be kept under
Section 16(1) of the SDI Ordinance showed that the Company has
been notified of the following interests, being 10% or more of the

issued share capital of the Company:

Name

=1

Asian Dynamics International Limited
Aldgate Agents Limited (Note 1)
New World CyberBase Limited (Note 1)

Note:

1. Aldgate Agents Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New World CyberBase
Limited. Their interests in the shares of the Company duplicate with each

other.

Save as disclosed above, the directors are not aware of any other person
having an interest in shares representing 10% or more of the issued

share capital of the Company.
SPONSOR’S INTEREST

The Company’s sponsor, Tai Fook Capital Limited (“Tai Fook”), and its
associates (as referred to Note 3 to Rule 6.35 of the GEM Listing Rules)
were interested in 4,800,000 and 77,300,000 shares of the Company
as at 31st December, 2001 respectively.

Pursuant to the agreement dated 13th December, 1999 entered into
between the Company and Tai Fook, Tai Fook has received a fee for
acting as the Company’s retained sponsor for the period from 16th

December, 1999 to 31st December, 2001.

Asian Dynamics International Limited
Aldgate Agents Limited (7#1)
M RBEEMERDA (F1)

FERR

MNZZEZ—F+-A=+-—H BERAREEE
EHEMNE16MEFEZECMETR » EARQA]

FAl TOALHBEARDREEITRA10%IA L
2

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares shareholding

EBRHA ERBEAL

264,934,000 55.63%

66,120,000 13.88%

66,120,000 13.88%

it

1. Aldgate Agents Limited 3 ¥t R 8IS £ B R 1 7)

Z2EWBAR - RERAMBZADARNDERLS
B -
BREXFTEEES  REFMAN - UEHEMALHR

BERRTRBETRAI0%EIA b2 B # -

REAZER
R-TT— $+ A=t—H AREZREAKX
BREFRAR ([KE]) REBBAL (EERE

%thﬁﬁ%a%MWEnn
% % 77,300,000 AR &R 15 e

| % %5 4,800,000
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Report of the Directors

COMPETING INTERESTS

Pursuant to Rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules, as at 31st December,
2001 the interest of each director, management shareholder (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) and their respective associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) that competes or may compete with the business

of the Group is set out below:

Entity that competes or
may compete with

Director business of the Group in the entity
REAKEBRFSR ESRZME

E= THERFIHE BEZBM

Ms. Ong Yvette New World CyberBase Managing director

Limited
SwmELL MHRYEEMBRAR BEHLE
Mr. Kwan Pun Fong ChinaHowFun.com Director
Vincent Corporation Limited

Mmh kAt A EITAERRE 5%

Finet Holdings Limited Director

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or management
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates had an
interest in a business which competes or may compete with the business

of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were

entered into or existed during the year.

HEER
RIBAIZER FTHBIE11.0416 RZEE—F+
“A=TH REF EEERR(TERAZE
RETRA RFEESECHBEAL(TERAZE
REMBE) FIBEEEAEEERTF L AIERT

ZEMBERIT

Position of the director

Competing business of the entity
BZHRBIBFRE

Provision of total e-Business solutions
including software products,
application total solutions, network
solutions and information
technology services in the
Greater China Region

ERPEMRRHZESTFHERR
TR BREEGHEABERTR
BRBATREREANRRS

Internet content provider
EBBAEHRER

Internet content provider

BB 8 7

BEXFBBESN - ARASES  BEERES

gREZW%AtﬁE%ﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁ$ﬁ
BB EHRE -

EEEHN

REALEITIXFERBALA LR
BOERBLEERITHAH -

BIEFEK



Report of the Directors

AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 5.23 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has established an audit committee comprising two independent non-
executive directors and one non-executive director and has adopted
the terms of reference governing the authority and duties of the audit
committee. The present members of the audit committee are Mr. Law
Shiu Kai Andrew, Mr. Pang Wai Lim and Dr. Yuen Man Chun Royce.

During the year, the audit committee met four times for reviewing the

Company’s operating results, and providing advices and

recommendations to the board of directors.
USE OF PROCEEDS

The proceeds from the issue of new shares pursuant to an initial public
offering exercise of the Company in December 1999, after deduction
of related expenses, amounted to approximately $135,000,000. Included
in the net proceeds, approximately $36,000,000 was planned to provide
additional working capital of the Group. The remaining net proceeds of

approximately $99,000,000 was planned and applied as follows:

Promotion and marketing activities of the AEEERE  RE
Group in Hong Kong, Taiwan and FEMEETER
other regions HEEE

Development in e-commerce operation LZREFHERK

Development in content and new products HEEARTER

Development of additional human resources 32 #& A 5 JE 1 R R pF %
for future business development and setting BRLERGHE
up representative offices in target regions RIKKMER

ENERE

AABERERIFER EMHRAES 23K LB ZR
BEg HKEBEMABUFNTEER—RIFNT
EX YCEHAABERZEGZRERBESR
cERLRECRKBINERERERL ZER
FERRXEBL -

FR - BRZBERTOREGE  BHARAZE
BOYRNEFEREABEAREZ -

FERERRE

BREARBAR—AANFTZRZRAFRBREZHE -
BITHRAGRENREER R 2 RIBEFENR
135,000,0007T * E# £736,000,0007T 51 &I A E AR
SEEIEEES - 8288£799,000,0007THIE &
SHEIRETIIAE -

Amount utilised

up to

Original 31st December,
planned* 2001
Bz

=L T M
+t=ZA=+-8H

R &t & EHAZEE
$7000 $7000
T T
40,000 11,366
24,000 24,378
18,000 18,492
17,000 36,546
99,000 90,782



Report of the Directors

USE OF PROCEEDS (Cont'd)

Amounts are extracted from the Company’s prospectus dated 7th December,
1999 issued in relation to the Company’s initial public offering exercise and

proposed listing of shares on the Growth Enterprise Market.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the directors, the Company has complied with the
“Board Practices and Procedures” as set out in Rules 5.28 to 5.39 of

the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year.
AUDITORS

The accompanying financial statements were audited by Messrs. Arthur
Andersen & Co. A resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs. Arthur
Andersen & Co as the auditors for the ensuing year is to be proposed at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,
LEUNG CHUNG WAN

Chairman

Hong Kong,
22nd March, 2002
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Auditors’ Report

Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of
ASIAN INFORMATION RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 39 to 88 which
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in Hong Kong.
RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing financial
statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that

appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our

audit, on those statements and to report our opinion to you.
BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the
directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the
company and of the group, consistently applied and adequately

disclosed.

>

ANDERSEN
/) —

ZER

Arthur Andersen & Co

21st Floor, Edinburgh Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong
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Auditors’ Report

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation
of information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
OPINION

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the company and of the group as at 31st December,
2001 and of the loss and cash flows of the group for the year then
ended, and have been properly prepared in accordance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN & CO
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong,
22nd March, 2002
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Consolidated Income Statement

Turnover

Cost of services and merchandise sold
Content and project development costs
Advertising and promotion costs
Employee costs

Depreciation and amortisation
Operating lease rental expenses

Provision for impairment of fixed assets
Impairment of goodwill from acquisition of

— a subsidiary

— associates
Provision for doubtful loans receivable
Restructuring costs
Other operating expenses

Loss from operations

Interest income

Interest expense

Net loss on investment in associates
Loss on a fire accident

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss after taxation but before minority
interests

Minority interests

Loss attributable to shareholders
Accumulated loss, beginning of year
Repurchase of shares by the Company
Accumulated loss, end of year

Loss per share
— Basic

S|
R E & RN
AARIBRHEKK
BEREBEKAR
EEKAR
EREH
EEHOEHX
Bl E & ERE RS
WEBETIRRIMELREZ
— HEAF
ﬁiM/‘\j
FBUERRRER
BAKAK
Hi gL~

z«< Eﬁ ?5

M E KA

MEBXH
BEQRREZBRFE
NEBIZEKX

BR A& 1R
WA

BRI RE R D BBCRE R
ZEE

DYRRE &
BREHE R
FHRAER
AR E B
FREFER

BiEE
— &R

A separate statement of recognised gains and losses is not presented

because there were no recognised gains or losses other than the loss

attributable to shareholders.

Note
iy &t

R E

10

11

12

BR R B A B RS -
v <

I & 2 518

For the year ended 31st December, 2001
BE-ZZZ-F+-A=+—HItFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(RETREML)

2001 2000
$7000 $7000
Fr F
(Note 30)

(Kiat30)

4,011 11,494
(2,174) (3,271)
(2,220) (9,406)
(1,133) (4,952)
(23,657) (23,557)
(2,767) (1,501)
(5,196) (3,053)
(3,748) —
— (2,138)
(1,926) (5,830)
(15,422) —
(2,808) =
(8,358) (12,650)
(65,398) (54,864)
2,331 6,947
(844) (270)
(6,843) (571)
— (2,456)
(70,754) (51,214)
(198) (86)
(70,952) (51,300)
174 2,639
(70,778) (48,661)
(59,170) (9,709)
— (800)
(129,9438) (59,170)
(14.9 cents) (10.2 cents)
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Balance Sheets

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Fixed assets

Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in associates

Long-term investment

Loans receivable,
non-current portion

Current assets

Loans receivable, current portion

Inventories

Prepayments and deposits
Accounts receivable
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves
Accumulated loss

Minority interests

Non-current liability
Finance lease obligations,
non-current portion

Current liabilities
Short-term bank loans
Accounts payable
Accruals and

other payables
Receipt in advance
Due to a related company
Taxation payable

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Note
ft it
BE
FRBEE
EEEE 13
MEBARERE 14
RN B 15
RHKE
RWERZ
FEREE D 16
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Approved by the Board of Directors on 22nd March, 2002:

LEUNG CHUNG WAN

Chairman

HO WING YIU

Director

As at 31st December, 2001
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(RETREM)

Consolidated Company
) AF

2001 2000 2001 2000
$°000 $7000 $000 $7000
Fr FT Fr FT
420 7,189 — —

— — 31,786 102,286

866 3,392 — —

— 1,782 — —

— 13,604 — —
1,286 25,967 31,786 102,286
— 1,818 — —

— 699 — —
1,316 3,531 172 151
332 1,033 — —
18,048 15,450 — —
29,599 73,595 — 2
49,295 96,126 172 153
50,581 122,093 31,958 102,439
47,624 47,624 47,624 47,624
113,727 113,727 101,589 101,589
(129,948) (59,170) (117,810) (47,032)
31,403 102,181 31,403 102,181
380 494 — —
— 84 — _
13,604 10,660 — —
432 463 — —
4,305 6,584 555 258
249 1,392 — _
182 182 — —

26 53 — =
18,798 19,334 555 258
18,798 19,418 555 258
50,581 122,093 31,958 102,439
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Net cash outflow from operating activities

Returns on investments and servicing
of finance
Interest received
Interest paid

Taxation — Overseas tax paid

Investing activities
Additions of fixed assets
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets
Net cash inflow from acquisition of
additional interests in a subsidiary
Cash outflow for acquisition of
a subsidiary

Cash outflow from disposal of interests in

a subsidiary
Increase in investment in an associate

(Increase) Decrease in due from associates

Proceeds from disposal of an associate
Increase in long-term investment
Increase in loans receivable

Decrease in due from related companies
Increase in pledged bank deposits

Net cash outflow before financing activities

Financing activities
Share issuance expenditures, net of
over-accrual in prior year
Repurchase of shares
New short-term bank loans
Repayment of short-term bank loans
Increase in due to a related company

Cash contribution by minority shareholders

Decrease in cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances, beginning of year

Cash and bank balances, end of year
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REEEEE
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For the year ended 31st December, 2001
HE-_ZZ-44+_RA=1+—-RH&E
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(RETREML)

2001 2000

Note $000 $7000
[t &t Fr Frr
24.a (39,132) (43,974)
2,331 6,947
(844) (270)

1,487 6,677
(225) (61)
(1,706) (7,763)

147 —

— 201
— (600)

24.b (23) —
(3,000) (6,080)

(1,890) 103

— 400

— (1,282)

— (15,422)

— 30

(2,598) (15,450)

(9,070) (45,863)

(46,940) (83,221)

24.c

— 255

— (3,040)

13,604 10,660

(10,660) =

— 182

— 1,553

2,944 9,610

(43,996) (73,611)

73,595 147,206

29,599 73,595




Notes to the Financial Statements

ORGANISATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited (“the Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4th October, 1999 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (1998 Revision) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares
have been listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Growth Enterprise Market”)
since 16th December, 1999.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of on-line content
information and related technical services, information technology
solutions and consultancy services, and strategic investment

holdings.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Statements of Standard Accounting Practice issued by the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong, and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market (“the GEM
Listing Rules”). Principal accounting policies are summarised

below:

a.  Basis of presentation

The financial statements as at and for the year ended 31st
December, 2001 have been prepared on the going concern
basis which assumes that the Group will be able to meet its

financial obligations when they fall due.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

a.

Basis of presentation (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31st December, 2001, the Group had a
net cash outflow from operating activities of approximately
$39,132,000 and loss attributable to shareholders of
approximately $70,778,000. Towards the end of the year,
the Group scaled down its operations and implemented cost
control measures. The Group is currently repositioning its
business focus with an aim to improve the Group’s financial

performance.

Inherent in the Group’s on-line content information and
related technical services, information technology solutions
and consultancy services, and investments in internet
businesses are various risks and uncertainties, including
limited operating history, uncertain profitability, history of
losses and risks associated with the Internet and e-commerce
businesses, and the ability to raise additional capital and
financing. The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern

depends on the success of its future operations.

The Company’s Directors are confident that the Group can
continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the financial
statements do not include any adjustments that would result

should the Group not be able to continue as a going concern.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical

cost basis.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

c.  Adoption of new/revised Statements of Standard Accounting

Practice

Effective 1st January, 2001, the following Statements of
Standard Accounting Practice (“SSAPs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants have been adopted:

SSAP 9 (revised): Event after the balance sheet date

SSAP 10 (revised): Accounting for investments in
associates

SSAP 14 (revised):

SSAP 17 (revised):

SSAP 18 (revised):

Leases
Property, plant and equipment

Revenue

SSAP 26: Segment reporting

SSAP 28: Provisions, contingent liabilities and
contingent assets

SSAP 29: Intangible assets

SSAP 30: Business combinations

SSAP 31: Impairment of assets

SSAP 32: Consolidated financial statements and

accounting for investments in

subsidiaries.

In order to comply with SSAP 26 “Segment reporting”, the
Group has disclosed segment information in Note 25 to the
financial statements. Except for the disclosure of segment
information, the adoption of the aforementioned new/revised
SSAPs had no material effect on amounts reported in the

prior year.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

d.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), together
with the Group’s share of post-acquisition profit/loss of its
associates under the equity method of accounting. Results
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date of acquisition or to the date of disposal. The equity
and net income attributable to minority shareholders’
interests are shown separately in the balance sheet and
income statement, respectively. Significant intra-group
transactions and balances have been eliminated on

consolidation.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is a company which the Company controls.
Control is normally evidenced when the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of that
company so as to benefit from its activities. In the Company’s
financial statements, investment in subsidiaries is stated at
cost less provision for impairment in value, while income
from subsidiaries is recorded to the extent of dividends

received and receivable.

Goodwill

The excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Group’s
share in the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
as at the date of the acquisition is recorded as goodwill and
recognised as an asset in the balance sheet. Goodwill is
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, and is amortised on a
straight-line basis over its useful life of not more than five

years.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

28

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

8.

Contractual joint ventures

A contractual joint venture is an entity established between
the Group and one or more other parties for a pre-
determined period of time, with the rights and obligations
of the joint venture partners being governed by a contract.
If the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the contractual joint venture so as to
benefit from its activities, such joint venture is considered
as a de facto subsidiary and is accounted for as a subsidiary

of the Group.

Associates

An associate is a company, not being a subsidiary, in which
the Group holds 20% or more of its issued voting share
capital as a long-term investment and can exercise significant
influence over its management. In the consolidated financial
statements, investment in associates is stated at the Group’s
share of the fair value of the separate net assets of the
associates at the time of acquisition, adjusted for the Group’s
share of undistributed post-acquisition profits/losses and
reserves of the associates, distributions received from the
associates and other necessary alterations in the Group’s
proportionate interest in the associates arising from changes
in the equity of the associates that have not been included
in the income statement. In the Company’s financial
statements, investment in associates is stated at cost less
provision for impairment in value, while income from
associates is recorded to the extent of dividends received

and receivable.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Turnover and revenue recognition

Turnover comprises (i) service income on content information
provision, technical services, and internet solution service
provision, and (ii) the net invoiced value of merchandise

sold after allowances for returns and discounts.

Revenue is recognised when the outcome of a transaction
can be measured reliably and when it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow
to the Group. Service income on provision of content
information is recognised on a time proportion basis for the
fixed license fee portion and as entitlement accrues on usage
for the variable license fee portion. Service income for
technical services and internet solution service provision is
recognised in accordance with the terms of the underlying
contracts and when the underlying services are rendered.
Sales revenue is recognised when the merchandise is
delivered and title has passed. Interest income is recognised
on a time-proportion basis on the principal outstanding and

at the rate applicable.

Advance payments received from customers prior to
rendering of the related content information service and

internet solution service are recorded as receipt in advance.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

j.

Taxation

Individual companies within the Group provide for profits
tax on the basis of their profit for financial reporting
purposes, adjusted for income and expense items which are

not assessable or deductible for profits tax purposes.

Deferred taxation is provided under the liability method, at
the current tax rate, in respect of significant timing
differences between profit as computed for taxation purposes
and profit as stated in the financial statements, except when
it is considered that no liability will arise in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets are not recognised unless the
related benefits are expected to crystallise in the foreseeable

future.

Advertising and promotion costs

Costs for advertising and promotion are charged to the

income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Content and project development costs

All costs incurred in the general development of content
database and other consultancy projects and in the provision
of internet solution are charged to the income statement as

incurred.
Employee retirement benefits
Costs of employee retirement benefits are charged to the

income statement in the relevant period in which they are

incurred.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

FTREFHEE (F)

A

AEEBTSARZHERER IR
B BHRRT A - BB AR 2 M
AR Nz L HEHAEETE -

BRI TIR B EIRFERBEFI &3
B R B ROR M R 2 BAH 2= 1R
- ERERRRARERTEEHE
BERDTAR - BRIFRFABFZEE
KA RAREE - GRIEEHREEM
THER

BEREBRAK

&
HE

REBRAGRELHR A RaER

o

% oF

s

ERMREERERAR

—RAZENEREMERIER kiR

EMBERTRZIERAIRELS

BIELEE Sl

SETRKEF

BTRAREHNZKANEREL SRS
Wk R ER o



Notes to the Financial Statements

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

n.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset that takes
a substantial period of time to prepare for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. All
other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the

period in which they are incurred.

Fixed assets and depreciation

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. Major expenditures on
modifications and betterments of fixed assets which will
result in future economic benefits are capitalised, while
expenditures on maintenance and repairs are expensed when
incurred. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated useful
life. The annual rates of depreciation are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 33% (over the lease term)

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer and equipment 33%
Motor vehicle 33%

Gains or losses on disposals of fixed assets are recognised
in the income statement based on the net disposal proceeds

less the then carrying amount of the assets.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

28

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

p-

Impairment of assets

Fixed assets, investment in subsidiaries and associates and
goodwill are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of one of these assets may not be recoverable. Whenever
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, an impairment loss representing the difference
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount
of an asset, is recognised in the income statement. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling
price and value in use. The net selling price is the amount
obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length
transaction less the costs of the disposal, while value in use
is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected
to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its

disposal at the end of its useful life.

Reversal of impairment losses of an asset recognised in prior
years is recorded when there is an indication that the
impairment losses recognised for the asset no longer exist
or have decreased. The reversal is recorded in the income

statement.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

q.

Leases

Finance leases represent those leases under which
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
leased assets are transferred to the Group. Fixed assets held
under finance leases are initially recorded at the present
value of the minimum payments at the inception of the
leases, with equivalent liabilities categorised as appropriate
under current or non-current liabilities. Interest expense,
which represents the difference between the minimum
payments at the inception of the finance leases and the
corresponding fair value of the assets acquired, is allocated
to accounting periods over the period of the relevant leases
to produce a constant rate of charge on the outstanding

balances.

Operating leases represent those leases under which
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
leased assets remain with the lessors. Rental payments under
operating leases are charged to the income statement on a

straight-line basis over the period of the relevant leases.

Segments

The Group is principally engaged in three business segments
in one geographic region. The Group reports its segment
information based on the operating activities of group
companies. Financial information by business segment is

presented in Note 25.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

S.

Provisions and contingencies

A provision is recognised when there is a present obligation,
legal or constructive, as a result of a past event and it is
probable (i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligations. Provisions are reviewed
regularly and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the
amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures

expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial
statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility of an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
A contingent asset is not recognised in the financial
statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic

benefits is probable.

Foreign currency translation

Companies within the Group maintain their books and
records in the primary currencies of their respective
operations (“functional currencies”). Transactions in other
currencies during the year are translated into their respective
functional currencies at the applicable rates of exchange
prevailing at the time of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in other currencies are translated
into their respective functional currencies at the applicable
rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date.
Exchange gains or losses are dealt with in the income

statement of the individual companies.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

t.

Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)

The Group prepares the consolidated financial statements
in Hong Kong dollars. For the purpose of consolidation, all
of the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries with functional
currencies other than Hong Kong dollars are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the applicable rates of exchange in
effect at the balance sheet date; all of the income and
expense items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
average applicable rates during the year. Exchange
differences arising from such translation are dealt with as

movements of cumulative translation adjustments.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures.

Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

3.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject

to common control or common significant influence.

a.  Particulars of significant transactions between the Group

and related parties are as follows:

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

REALRS

BEALZERR— T ARNERRREED
Bm—71 ZBEENE ST HBEREE
ARIELREATESE - MXF—EHHF—
BERFEZENTTHRARBEANL

a. ASEREBALZEAXRZEND
T

2001 2000
$000 $7000
Fr Fr
Internet solution service B T2 R KRB B4
fees earned from BATERRGE
— Verticalsquare.com Holdings Inc., — Verticalsquare.com
an associate Holdings Inc. * B & 2 A 80 2,720
— Advantage Mortgage Services Limited, — BERBRBEAERLQA
an associate kNS 115 235
— Alliance of Hong Kong Youth Groups (i) — BEATEHERE) — 9
— China VC Net — FERBREE RS
Limited, an associate BRAR - EEAT — 63
Interest income on advances to M T AR ERZHSRA
— Advantage Mortgage Services Limited, —BERBRBEARAT
an associate AN 135 22
— I|-Textile On-Line Company Limited, — HBHBERLDA
an associate kNS — 14
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets to mtE N RIERS (RE) AR
Comfirm (China) Limited, an associate NAILEBEEEMGRE 67 —

Note:

()  Mr. Leung Chung Wan, a director of the Company, is the
president of Alliance of Hong Kong Youth Groups.

b.  As at 31st December 2001, the Group had an amount due
to China Collection Limited of approximately $182,000
(2000 - $182,000), which is unsecured, non-interest bearing
and without pre-determined repayment term. China
Collection Limited is, among others, beneficially owned by
Mr. Leung Chung Wan, a director of the Company, and Mr.
Chau Tak Tin, a director of the Company up to 20th February,
2002.

a2y

at -

() ARFEERTHELERBTRETFLE
BEEE -

b. R-TET—F+_A=+—H ' £A£E
R A B B BR 2 A1 49182,0007T (=
ZTTHF—182,0000T) ° Lt K FKI
mER 2EEBETENRS - HEK
BAERABEAARIESFRIHELER
BEEEEEEREMASERESR - AXx
HER-ZTZ-_F_A-THEET-
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(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

4. TURNOVER AND REVENUE 4. EXBEREA
An analysis of turnover and revenue in the consolidated income MalRmRMIzEXRRBADHWT -

statement is as follows:

2001 2000
$000 $7000
Fr T
Content solution service B R AR 7

— distribution fees — BEE 2,138 2,428
— project fees —JHBE 637 1,071
Internet solution service fees EMPmEEATRREE 1,123 5,640
Project consultancy fees BEEME = 1,746
Sales of accessories i & fe i 113 609
Total turnover BEER 4,011 11,494
Interest income ) B A 2,331 6,947
Total revenue I A 6,342 18,441

For the year ended 31st December, 2001, the five largest customers BE_ZZ—F+_A=+—HILFE "
accounted for approximately 45% (2000 - 62%) of the Group’s IARPRGZUBEAERBEREN
total turnover, while the largest customer accounted for 45%(ZZEZTTF—62%) ' MERAKEFR
approximately 21% (2000 - 34%) of the Group’s total turnover. HXBREAEERLERRN21%(ZFET

F—349%)
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(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 5. BRBAIEE
Loss before taxation in the consolidated income statement is REWRRAFTE KRB AIBED MR
determined after charging or crediting the following: ATHEE :
2001 2000
$7000 $°000
Fr Fir
After charging — 2k :
Cost of inventories sold HEFEZKAR 169 722
Provision for and write-off of doubtful accounts & LT R B B 4
receivable R 1 85 473 395
Provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventories i@ &% 85757 5 & & 728 2,932
Depreciation of fixed assets EEEERE
— owned assets —BERBEE 2,250 1,427
— assets under finance leases —REHENEE 88 34
Amortisation of goodwill k3 E 429 —
Amortisation of intangible assets EBEVEESH — 40
Loss on disposals of fixed assets HEBTEEZER 1,205 195
Interest expense on AETHHEB 2MEXH
— short-term bank loans — RHBRITER 823 247
— finance lease obligations — B EHARE 21 23
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 24 B B 638 780
After crediting — EE PN
Interest income on BHETHIEB 2FEKA
— bank deposits — |ITER 2,196 6,911
— advance to an associate — B THEDNRIZER 135 36
Net exchange gain B 5 U 5 % 5 79 232
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6.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS 6. EBERERTBRAEME
a.  Details of emoluments paid to the directors of the Company a. ARARZEEMEFHEBOT
are:
2001 2000
$7000 $°000
Fi Fr
Fees for executive directors HITESHES — —
Fees for non-executive directors FHTEZNRS 499 495
Other emoluments for executive directors HTESHMM S
— basic salaries and allowances — HEARE & KER 3,220 2,883
— contribution to retirement fund — RIREHR 37 123
3,756 3,501
The number of directors whose remuneration fall within the BRTIMeHE 2 EEAZLT ¢
following bands is as follows:
2001 2000
Executive directors HITES
— Nil to $1,000,000 — £ %1,000,0007T 3 2
— $1,000,001 to $1,500,000 — 1,000,0017c £ 1,500,0007C 1 1
Non-executive directors FEHITES
— Nil to $1,000,000 — £%1,000,0007T 7 6
11 9
For the year ended 31st December, 2001, three independent BE_TZZ-F+T_A=t—HILFE =
non-executive director received approximately $120,000, 718 37 I8 1T E F W BH & 49120,0007T
$120,000 and $80,000 (2000 — Each received $110,000), 120,0007T % 80,0007 (Z T2 ZF : FIRE
whereas other directors individually received approximately 110,000t ) @ M HE fth & F 8 KWK
$1,182,000, $954,000, $685,000, $461,000, $60,000, 1,182,0007C * 954,0007T * 685,0007T °
$60,000 and $34,000 (2000 — $1,356,000, $971,000, 461,0007T * 60,0007T * 60,0007t X 34,000

$679,000, $55,000, $55,000 and $55,000).

T (ZEZTZ4F : 1,356,0007T * 971,0007T

679,0007C * 55,0007T * 55,0007t &% 55,000

L) °
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(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

6. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS (Contd) 6. EBEERESRITHAEMZ (&)

a.  (Contd) a. (&)
No directors waived any emoluments during the year. No FAYEBEEHETNME - BE-TF
incentive payment for joining the Group or compensation Z—F+-_A=1—HILFE  X&E
for loss of office was paid or payable to any director for the 3 4 S A5 3 ATV A N B 2R 2 S R BB A
year ended 31st December, 2001 (2000 - Nil). BYENEF(ZTZTTF—E) -
b.  Details of emoluments paid to the five highest paid b. INEEHEE (BHEEFKHEME
individuals (including directors and other employees) are: B)ZMemBERT :
2001 2000
$000 $7000
Fr T
Basic salaries and allowances EXRG & REM 4,006 3,973
Contribution to retirement fund BAREHR 50 125
4,056 4,098
2001 2000
Number of directors BEEAH
Number of employees EE& AZ
5 5




Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

6. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS (Contd) 6. BEERBRITHBAEME (&)

b.  (Contd) b. (#&)
An analysis of emoluments paid to the five highest paid IfiGaHALT(REREERER)Z
individuals (including directors and employees) by number ABEMESBER 2 MEATWT -

of individuals and emolument ranges is as follows:

2001 2000
Nil to $1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007C 4 4
$1,000,001 to $1,500,000 1,000,0017C £ 1,500,0007T 1
5 5
During the year, no emoluments were paid to the five highest FRAEBVEMERNBRS HBR
paid individuals (including directors and employees) as METENEUSGEFAL (BREZTRE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as B)(ZZZTF — &) -
compensation for loss of office (2000 - Nil).
7. RESTRUCTURING COSTS 7. EBEARX
Restructuring costs comprise: BAKKEEE -
2001 2000
$7000 $000
Fr T
Loss on disposals of fixed assets HEBREEEZER 1,205 —
Provision for impairment of fixed assets Bl & ERERE 746 —
Provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventories ¥ [ % 8575 & & 1B 728 —
Others Hth 129 —
2,808 —




Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

7. RESTRUCTURING COSTS (Cont’d) 7o
During the year, the Group ceased certain of its business
operations and, in this connection, recorded restructuring costs
of approximately $2,808,000 (2000 - Nil).

8.  NET LOSS ON INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 8.

Net loss on investment in associates comprises:

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

EARE (B)

AEBRAEECERETEY - BithR

EHEEH2,808,000T (ZEETFE—E) o

BERNRAREZERFR

BERNRREZBRFRBRE

2001 2000

$7000 $7000

o Fir

Gain on disposal of an associate HE B D F W E = (245)
Share of losses of associates DIGHE S AR e 4,512 8,531
Provision for doubtful receivables from associates *  J& U Bt & A 7] R BR A f 2,331 —

Share of gain on dilution of interest in an associate 9 {h ¥ & N Al &= 858 2 W a = (7,715)
6,843 571

During the year, the Directors assessed the recoverability of receivables
from Knowledge Base Holding Limited and Advantage Mortgage
Services Limited, associates, and determined to record a provision for
doubtful receivables of approximately $2,331,000 (2000 - Nil).

9. TAXATION 9,

Taxation in the consolidated income statement comprises:

Hong Kong profits tax BERNGH
Mainland China enterprise income tax PECRMAEDN

* BERAFEFH I AT B Knowledge Base

Holding Limited R B)Z B REE R A B MR

B AR FORR G E R AR e B 0 R

E BB BCR AR B 15 1402,331,0007 (Z 2%
TE—E) -

BAEKERAZHERRE

2001 2000
$7000 $7000
Fr F
198 86
198 86
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(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

TAXATION (Cont’d)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no estimated assessable profit during the year ended
31st December, 2001 (2000 - Nil).

Mainland China enterprise income tax for the Guangzhou
representative office of Cyber Strategy Limited, a subsidiary, and
the Beijing representative office of Asian Information Resources
Limited, a subsidiary, has been provided at the rate of 33% on
deemed net profit for the year based on total expenditures incurred

by the representative offices.

Guangzhou Air Network Company Limited is a new-and-high
technology enterprise established in the New-and-High Technology
Development Zone and is subject to Mainland China income tax
atarateof 15%. EM £ E 5 E ERBE B R 2 7, My
Home Tech. Development Co., Ltd., & /M #5 B R 5 & R %
A R 2 & and Guangzhou Shilian Software Technological Co.,
Ltd. and 4t ) 5 A K B & A B 5 B R 2 7 are subsidiaries
established and operating in Mainland China, and are subject to
Mainland China enterprise income tax at a rate of 33% (30%
state tax and 3% local tax). All Mainland China subsidiaries were

in a loss position during the year ended 31st December, 2001.

No profits tax was provided for the Company and its subsidiaries
operating outside Hong Kong and Mainland China as they either
were not subject to taxation in their respective jurisdiction of
operations or were still in a tax loss position as at 31st December,
2001.

As at 31st December, 2001, the Group had an unprovided deferred
tax asset, primarily representing the tax effect of cumulative tax
losses (subject to the approval of the relevant tax authority),

amounting to approximately $11,175,000 (2000 - $6,755,000).

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

BE (&)

ARASERBEZE-_ZT—F+-_A=1—
AR EAFERTEN (ZTTTF
B) QMYTEBREMNGHAE -

PEAMERAER - DRENE A RS
REARRALEMABRERARDHER
MEIARZKAERRERZEHX -  BERE
ZEMFE - R3B%ZMERABEEMER
B -

BTH

EMTARAEERAAINBRETREE
¥ EeFRWHAZEERMK - BRI15%2H
REMPEREH -  EMNEESEERBEE
RAA - BMASERMEZERARAR &
MNERRESRBEBERRR - FEM B S+
BREBRAARIEREAXRKEAREER
NAIBERBEK Y REE ZHBAR @ AR
33% 2 B2 (30%H R B IN3 % 75 ) Zan$
BEH B2 —F+=-A=1+—AH
EEE FBTENBRRAHEES -

BE_TZ—4F+_A=+—-BLEE @A
REFAELERER cHBRNBHRBE
B REARRRERE LR BIUASMEEZ
E2MBARGENSHEE -

RZBT—F+ZA=+—H A5EEX
BRECEERIBEEN,175000T (Z2F
TF—6,755,0007T) * TERRFBBEERE
(EEHBERBH) 2HBTE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

10. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS 10. RREMLEE

The loss attributable to shareholders in the consolidated income REWmRP L BRREBIEBEERBEERAA
statement includes a loss of approximately $70,778,000 (2000 - R R B IE 2 470,778,000 (ZEEZE
$48,728,000) dealt with in the financial statements of the F — 48,728,0007T) E1E °
Company.
11. ACCUMULATED LOSS 1. R EBE
Accumulated loss (consolidated) comprises: TEREERE
2001 2000
$7000 $7000
F Fr
Company and subsidiaries /NI TN (124,658) (58,392)
Associates [ /NE] (5,290) (778)
(129,948) (59,170)
12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BRER

The calculation of basic loss per share for the year ended 31st
December, 2001 is based on the loss attributable to shareholders
of approximately $70,778,000 (2000 - $48,661,000) and the
weighted average of approximately 476,237,000 (2000 -
478,429,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31st December, 2000
and 2001 are not presented because the potential ordinary shares

were anti-dilutive during the years.

BE_ZZ—F+_A=Z+—HLFEER
EXEBE  DHsREAFEERREGEE
#170,778,0007C (ZZ T T F—48,661,000

T)REBITEBERZ MEFHH
476,237,000/ (ZZE T T F—478,429,000
R FE -

HREBE_FTTER_FTF-F+-A=
T-RALFECEEEARAARBEY
E BUMABINZEFESREBERR -
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13.

FIXED ASSETS

Movements in fixed assets (consolidated) are:

Cost

Beginning of year

Attributable to acquisition
of a subsidiary

Attributable to disposal of
a subsidiary (Note 24.b)

Additions

Disposals

End of year

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses

Beginning of year

Attributable to disposal of
a subsidiary (Note 24.b)

Provision for the year

Disposals

Provision for impairment
in value

End of year
Net book value

End of year

Beginning of year

B AR
1
Uy B Y B

NC]
& W B

NA) (i24.b)
NE
&

£

RIFER
HEERE
=)
HENB
A7) (i#24.b)
REE B
HE
BB

FiR
SR F{E
R

4

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BE BB £ HEUETBENN)
13. BEEE
REERTEELE®A
2001 2000
Furniture ~ Computer
Leasehold and and Motor
improvements fixtures equipment Vehicle Total Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $7000
HEME B R ERK

#1& #E B AE e B
o Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr
2,903 2,287 3,510 381 9,081 3,070

— — — — — 291

(76) (55) (394) — (525) —

173 244 1,289 — 1,706 7,763
(1,003) (1,105) (406) — (2,514) (2,043)
1,997 1,371 3,999 381 7,748 9,081
442 568 808 74 1,892 1,587

(12) (21) (201) — (234) —

584 410 1,217 127 2,338 1,461
(461) (561) (140) — (1,162) (1,156)
1,444 975 2,075 — 4,494 —
1,997 1,371 3,759 201 7,328 1,892
— — 240 180 420 7,189

2,461 1,719 2,702 307 7,189 1,483
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13.

14.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

FIXED ASSETS (Contd) 13. EEEE (&)

During the year, the Directors reviewed and evaluated the EENAFREEEMLTREEEERAE
recoverability of the carrying amount of fixed assets and provided AT AU E R ATl 2 85 - W ERLEIE B E
for impairment in value of fixed assets of approximately 2R ETE L 474,494,000 B © £9746,000
$4,494,000. Impairment loss of approximately $746,000, was TTREBREASESEAEH S ARIIA
related to the restructuring of the Group and was recorded as BHARKA - FHMI3,748,0007T A7) A H A 48
restructuring costs, while approximately $3,748,000 was recorded LR o

as other operating expenses.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 14. BLARARE
In the Company’s balance sheet, investment in subsidiaries RARBBEEABRAZLMBARKRER
comprises: 1
2001 2000
$7000 $7000
F T Fr
Unlisted shares, at cost LG - RE 14,082 14,082
Due from subsidiaries JE Ui B B A &) 7178 125,815 131,659
Less: Provision for impairment in value B ORE R (108,111) (43,455)
31,786 102,286
Balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing MEARz AT EEMRES - BXYRZ
and not due for repayment on or before 1st January, 2003. EE—F—A—HaZAI AR HBHEE -
The Directors are of the opinion that the underlying value of the EERRARAENBRAREZBETD
subsidiaries is not less than the carrying value as at 31st December, RE-ZTZT—F+_A=+—HZK@E -
2001.
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14.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

14. WBLARAKRE (&)

Details of the subsidiaries as at 31st December, 2001 are:

Name

=1

Air Communications (HK) Limited

AEAE (BE)ERAA

Air Communications (Asia) Limited

REAS (EM) BERAA]

Asian Information Investment
Consulting Limited
DM EREBERER DA

Asian Information Resources (BVI)
Limited

Asian Information Resources
International Limited

Asian Information Resources
Limited

SHREERAT

Biztech Company Limited
BEMEAERDF

Place of
incorporation
and operations
oF A 3 B
S B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong

BiE

Hong Kong

6

British Virgin
Islands

RBREX
BHS

British Virgin
Islands

REBRX
S

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong
26

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

ERTRHE
BA/EMEXR
$ 1,000,000

1,000,0007T

$ 10,000
10,0007T

$ 500,000
500,0007C

uss$ 200
200 T

Us$ 1
17T

$ 11,228,290
11,228,2907T

$ 100,000
100,0007T

MBRARAR -_TE-—F+_A=1t—HZ&

EanT

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Group (a)

AEBEERS
BER D@

70%

100%

60%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

FEXK

Inactive
o
TEex

Inactive
TEEx

Inactive

LR

[=

Investment holding

RERR

Holdings of trademarks

BRERRE

Provision of on-line content
information and related
technical services, information
technology solutions and
consultancy services, and
e-commerce investment

REBLEAREARMRY -
BARBRBRAL R RERR
B EFHERE

Internet solution service

EBBRRTRRS
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(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 14. WEBLARKRE (&)

Percentage of

Place of Issued and fully  equity interest
incorporation paid share capital/ attributable to
Name and operations registered capital  the Group (@)  Principal activities
o A X K ERTRARE AEBEENL
=L B BRA/GZMEX REEBAL@ FEXH
BuyCollection.com Limited Hong Kong $ 750,000 60% Inactive
FERERERAA BA 750,007 EREX
Chinareference.com Limited Hong Kong $ 10,000 100%  Inactive
BA 10,0007 EREX
Cyber Fair Technology Limited Hong Kong $ 10,000 100% Inactive
AR RERAF BE 10,0007 EREX
Cyber Strategy Limited Hong Kong $ 75,000 100%  Strategic investment holding
FERERRAA BA 75,0007C REREZR
e-daily Limited British Virgin Us$ 5,000 100%  Provision of on-line content
Islands information
RERZES 5,000% 7T RRft@ L&
Guangzhou Air Network Company ~ Mainland China ~ RMB 500,000 80%  Provision of information and
Limited (b) data processing services
ENZAAEERARD) i 500,0007C A K ¥ B B A B B 2 AR 75
Guangzhou Shilian Software Mainland China ~ § 1,000,000 100%  Information technology
Technological Co., Ltd. (c) solution services
BB &R AR 2 A () HE 1,000,0007C ERBRBRT RRSE
Lecture Kit Company Limited Hong Kong $ 5,000 100%  On-line education content
service
BE2RBRAF BA 5,0007C BEHEERRE
Myhome Network Limited Hong Kong $ 900,000 77.78%  Investment holding
AREBERRERAT BE 900,0007C RAZR
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INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

Name

=L

Net Convergence Limited

BB EBERAR
Orienthomes.com Limited
RABERNA

Sinotrade Technologies Limited

ENHBRERAA

My Home Tech. Development
Co., Ltd. (d)

BMAERHMRERERAA )

BMNEEREERBERAT ()

BNERARESREERAA ()

EREARBEARNRERRA (g)

Place of
incorporation
and operations

B oAV
BB

Hong Kong
A

Hong Kong
BA

Hong Kong
BE

Mainland China
hE
Mainland China
H
Mainland China
H

Mainland China
B

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

14. WBLARAKRE (&)

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

CRTRAR
BAE/ERER
$ 5,000

5,0007C

$ 2,900,000
2,900,0007C

$ 5,000
5,0007C

RMB 5,504,575

5,504,5757C A R #

$ 450,000
450,0007C

$ 2,000,000
2,000,0007C

$ _

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to
the Group (a)

AEBEERS

REB DL @)
100%

60%

100%

70%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

FTEX®

Inactive
TEEx

In the process of voluntary
liquidation
EETAERBE

Investment holding

RERK

Provision of on-line content
information

REBLEA

In the process of voluntary
liquidation
IEETERER

In the process of voluntary
liquidation
EETAERBER

Inactive
TEEE
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14.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

Notes:

Asian Information Resources (BVI) Limited is directly held by the

Company, and all other subsidiaries are indirectly held.

Guangzhou Air Network Company Limited is an equity joint venture
established in Mainland China for a term of 20 years up to February
2019.

Guangzhou Shilian Software Technological Co., Ltd. is a wholly foreign
owned enterprise established in Mainland China for a term of 20 years
up to May 2020.

My Home Tech. Development Co., Ltd. is an equity joint venture
established in Mainland China for a term of 20 years up to September
2020. According to the joint venture agreement, the Group and the
joint venture partner have to make capital contribution of
RMB9,000,000 and RMB1,000,000, respectively (equivalent to
approximately $8,490,000 and $943,000, respectively) within 12
months starting from 1st September, 2000. As at 31st December, 2001,
the Group made cash contributions amounting to RMB4,504,575
(equivalent to approximately $4,250,000) into the joint venture.

BN EE S =B RIEBM AR is a contractual joint venture established
in Mainland China for a term of 15 years up to August 2015. As at
31st December, 2001, EM A& 515 B REBER A E was under the

process of voluntary liquidation.

BMERRERE S ARE BB QA is a contractual joint venture established
in Mainland China for a term of 15 years up to August 2015. As at
31st December, 2001, E/MFE AR (5 B RSB R A A was under the

process of voluntary liquidation.

IERDARBEARKLBR DA is a wholly foreign owned enterprise
established in Mainland China for a term of 10 years up to 2011. Total
registered capital is US$150,000. As at 31st December, 2001, no capital
was injected by the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time

during the year ended 31st December, 2001.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

14. WBATKRE (&)

i

a. Asia Information Resources (BVI) Limitedd
ARREERFE  MEMABHNBEARGAN
REIMERA -

b. F%dﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂ“ﬁﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁﬂﬁﬂ@ﬁfcﬁzAﬁA

BhE CEBE-T-NE_AIt AH=

+4 o

c. BNUEBEEREERARARTERYZE
SNELE  BREHE—_T-_TFRAL - AH
iy o S

d. ENAEEMBRZEREBRAAANREKILZ
BEAELE KEHZE_T_TENARL -
RBUZTF - RESEHE  2EERGER
HEARZZZZFAA—BRFT12EARD 5
;1'§9,000,0007EAE%%&1,000,0007%/\&%%
(2 B4 ZE148,490,0007T % 943,0007T) °
—EZ—%+=-RA=+—8" zkﬁlaﬁz%:

BEEIAESR4,504,575 T ARE (KER
4,250,0007T) °

e. BEMNEERSEERBERARARFERLLZ
Ai@’““m‘% CREHE-_Z-RFNRL
AEtAF R-FT-—F+-_H=+—H"
F)I\E/E%E R AR AR IEETTERB
5 o

f. BN A5 B R ééﬂﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁ"ﬂﬁ%ﬁmﬂ Cillpavibrd

BHRELE KREHE—Z-AFN\AL "
REPTHE RZTT—F +:ﬂ—+—5 2

BMBEAREERBEERRAEELETERE
°

g IRTAREEAREERARARPEKL

ZEINELE  KEHME_T——F  BHE+

F o @MEMERE150,000% 7T MEBEE=Z
—F+-—A=+—BALENKIE

ENBRARBE-_ZE-—F+-A=+—H
FFESEETERMEEER o



Notes to the Financial Statements

15.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Investment in associates (consolidated) comprises:

Unlisted shares, at cost
Impairment of goodwill from
acquisitions of associates

Accumulated share of gain on dilution
of interest in an associate

Amortisation of goodwill from
acquisition of associates

Accumulated share of losses

Due from associates
Provision for doubtful receivable

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

15.

FEMML - RE

(B =H B -

WEBEDRREL

ZEBRE

Rt D EHE AR
s B Al
T N
REL < HE
LR PRy F s

’—‘LI& iﬁ**/‘\ IE
ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁl%ﬁﬁ%’éﬁ

[n February 2001, the Group acquired an additional 10% equity

interest in Knowledge Base Holding Limited, a company

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, for a consideration of

$1,500,000. Since then, the Group owned an aggregate of 22.5%

equity interest in Knowledge Base Holding Limited and the related

investment costs and amounts due from Knowledge Base Holding

and its subsidiary were transferred from long-term investment to

investment in associates during the year.

The Directors are of the opinion that the underlying value of the

associates is not less than the carrying value as at 31st December,

2001.

EHEUETREN)

2001 2000
$7000 $7000
FiT Frr
14,000 10,000
(7,756) (5,830)
6,244 4,170
7,715 7,715
(429) —
(13,005) (8,493)
525 3,392
2,672 —
(2,331) —
341 —
866 3,392

R-ZZEZT—F_R

» NEE BA1,500,0007T

B EZBERABRABBEMAILL
Knowledge Base Holding Limitedf% #10% °
7K & [ 8 It % B Knowledge Base Holding

Limited &4 & £22.5% -

&Knowledge Base Holding Limited

RAIFIRS
ﬁ‘ﬁéﬁ”‘ﬂxé

A Hett

2y

EERBEHENT
Z +-A=+—

mARZHERA
£ H it

7N 7N

KNEARAFEHRAREEAR

FEBZBENMER-F
AZMEmEE -
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15.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd)

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

15. BERARRE (F)

Details of the associates as at 31st December, 2001 are:

Name

L

Verticalsquare.com Holdings Inc.

I-Textile.com Holdings Inc.

[-Textile.com Taiwan Inc.

-Textile.com (China) Holdings Inc.

I-Textile On-Line Company Limited

DEBBERAR

Cyber Net Holdings, Inc.

Place of
incorporation
and operations
At AR X R
LR 3

British Virgin
Islands

REBRAEE

British Virgin
Islands

RERAEE

British Virgin
Islands

RERAES

British Virgin
Islands

RBEXES
Hong Kong

B

British Virgin
Islands

RERAEE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

BERTRHR
BAx/EREx
Us$ 10,900

10,900 7T

Us$ 1
(E

US$ 1
(E

Us$ 1
(EF

$ 1,323,970
1,323,9707T

Us$ 100
100 7T

U AR -FE-FT A=+ -AZHE

BmT

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to

the Group (a)
AEBEEN
BHER D)

22.94%

22.94%

22.94%

22.94%

19.96%

22.94%

Principal activities

IREH

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

BRERK

Operation of an e-commerce
platform for textile products

REEEMBEM
2BFHETA

Inactive

TEEX

Operation of an e-commerce
platform for textile products

REEEDBEM
2BFHETA

Investment holding

RERK
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INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd)

Name

L

|-Textile.com Korea Inc.
(“I-textile Korea”) (b)

Comfirm (China) Limited

EHE(RE)BRAA

BNEBEEREERAT (o

Knowledge Base Holding Limited

Advantage Mortgage Services Limited

BERBRBEAERLA
Advantage China Holdings Ltd
BETHZRER AR

Advantage Services Holdings Ltd
BERBERER DA

Place of
incorporation
and operations

ot AR L ]

XY

South Korea

M

Hong Kong

Bk

Mainland China

H

British Virgin
Islands

RERAES

Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong
BB

Hong Kong
BB

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

15. BERARRE (&)

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

ERTRARE

RE/ZREXR

Won 434,500,000

434,500,000

$ 3,000,000
3,000,0007T

$ 300,000
300,0007C

$ 8,000,000
8,000,0007T

$ 2
27T

$ 100
1007C

$ 100,000
100,0007C

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to

the Group (a)
FEBEWL
REBSL@

10.78%

50%

50%

22.5%

22.5%

22.5%

22.5%

Principal activities
TEEH

In the process of voluntary
liquidation

EETERER

Operation of a B2B
eMarketplace

REBIBEFRE XK

Operation of a B2B

eMarketplace
KEBBEFHEXER

Investment holding
REEZR

Operation of an e-commerce
platform for mortgage
related services

RERBABARE 2
TIHETA

Inactive
PO
TEex

Inactive
U
TEex
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(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

15. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd) 15. BEATRKRE (&)

Percentage of

Place of Issued and fully  equity interest
incorporation paid share capital/ attributable to
Name and operations registered capital  the Group (@)  Principal activities
it i B 3 ERTRAR FREEN
L RS Ra/ZMEx REBIL@ FEXER
Advantage Card Services Hong Kong $ 100,000 22.5% Inactive
Hong Kong Ltd
BEFTREEEBRAA BA 100,0007C ERER
Advantage Card Services Hong Kong $ 100,000 22.5% Inactive
Holdings Ltd
BERRHBEZERERAA BA 100,0007 LEEX
Advantage Loan Services Ltd Hong Kong $ 10,000 22.5% Inactive
BEERRHEARAA BA 10,0007 EEEX
Advantage Technical Services Ltd Hong Kong $ 10,000 22.5% Inactive
BEEXRBARAA BA 10,0007 LEEX
Forest Information Technology Hong Kong $ 100 33% Internet solution service

Company Limited
(formerly known as
Cyber Quest Limited))
RAERMBARAR B 1007 BB @R RIRE
(MREEENNERAR)
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15.

16.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d) 15.
Notes:
a. The shares of the above associates are held indirectly by the Company.
b. I-textile Korea is an associate as the Group’s interest in it is held
through an associate which in turn holds more than 20% of the issued
voting share capital of I-textile Korea.
cc. EBEMNERRFEEMR®E AR A is a wholly foreign owned
enterprise established in Mainland China for a term of 15 years up to
May 2016. Total registered capital is $1,000,000 and as at 31st
December, 2001, approximately $300,000 cash capital was injected
by the Group.
LOANS RECEIVABLE 16.
Details of loans receivable (consolidated) are:
Due within one year —F NI
Due after one year —FEIH
Provision for doubtful loans receivable ERERRERE

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

BENRRE (B)
it

LRBEAR 2B ERARRRERA °

o

b. AR AN SR B J0 8 B 55 A -textile KoreaB #1778
BERBRA20%M EZBERREFE - Wikl

textile Korea/& 1B & A &) o

c. BNEBGERBAERARANTFEKLIZE
INERE  BREHE-_T—AERA - A+
AE - FMEARE,000,000T  MEE=F
T+ -A=+-—HAKBEEIEYD
300,0007T3H & ©

B W& K

BERBRERZFBENOT :

2001 2000
$7000 $°000
Fr Fir
15,422 1,818
= 13,604
15,422 15,422
(15,422) —
— 15,422
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LOANS RECEIVABLE (Cont’d)

Approximately $1,818,000 of the loans receivable represent
a loan granted to an Internet Service Provider in Mainland
China (“the ISP Entity”) in May 2000. The loan was due for
settlement in May 2001. The ISP Entity has the right but not
the obligation to invite the Group to convert the loan into a
36.1% equity interest in the ISP Entity in settlement of the
loan, subject to the relaxation of the foreign investment
laws that prohibit non-Mainland China entities from directly
investing in the telecommunications industry in Mainland
China. However, the Group has no obligation to convert
the loan into shares of the ISP Entity. As at 31st December,
2001, no conversion had taken place. The Directors have
reviewed and evaluated the recoverability of the loan and
have determined to record full provision for this loan

receivable.

The remaining loans receivable of approximately
$13,604,000 represent loans granted to a Mainland China
employee (“the Employee”) of the Group in May and August
2000. In accordance with the loan agreements, the Employee
applied the proceeds of the loans to invest in and finance a
Mainland China company (“the PRC Entity”), which in turn
holds an equity interest in a cable television network
business in Mainland China (“the Cable TV Entity”). The
loans were due for settlement in May and August 2001. In
accordance with the loan agreement, the Employee agreed
to transfer the 52% equity interest in the PRC Entity to the
Group (“Share Transfer”) together with the loans receivable
from the PRC Entity in settlement of the loans, subject to
the relaxation of the foreign investment laws that prohibit
non-Mainland China entities from directly investing in the
telecommunications industry in Mainland China as
mentioned above. As at 31st December, 2001, no Share

Transfer had taken place.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

16. BWER (&)

EWEREH%1,818,000t 55T
TFERRAET BN EBAERYE
HER ([ISPAR) 2EX  ARZF
T—FHAER - ZISPARA LA (BE
EEE) BREAEBBER L AZISP
NAB6I%REEREBEER  HEERAF
PEBANARIERRETEAMESE
MBS BB E AT AT o SRTT -
AEBVEEFABRZBEERLRAEZ
ISPRARIZIR#E - BE-_TT—F+=
A=+—H UEBETHKR -ESEE
B0 AT 4 ] & e Bl B 3K K AT IR 2 £
B UVEARERZEERELZ2HE
=

HBEUWE 413,604,000t AT
ZERARNREBTAEEFE A
wEE ([EE])2EH - REBHZ
EXipE  EEESEFRE—RTE
AR E ([REQAE]) - sz a8
BETPENM —BRERBBED
([ERERAF]) 2BRMH - ZZFER
BR-ZZT—FRARNAEE - BRE
ERERME EERESZTERA
52%RERFIE TZFERARZERE
TEASE ((ROhEBZE])EREEE
AR LERZIPRINA R EEREA
FENME S X 2 INEREEBINER
AT - BEZEE—F+ZRA=1—
B WEETRNHDEZE -
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(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

16. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Cont’d) 16. BWER (&)
b.  (Contd) b. (&)
In view of the facts disclosed above, the Directors have EREER  EFZE()REHE
reviewed and evaluated the recoverability of the loans REZMBRBERERG)FPERAR
receivable by reference to (i) the current unfavourable BRI AERERACZREESR  E2F
financial performance of the PRC Entity and (ii) the B R &F f AT 45 U 21 & 50 R AT e [ 2 B
uncertainty of realisability of the equity interest in the Cable B ERBRMELIEEREE L TH
TV Entity by the PRC Entity. As a result, the Directors Bl YERERZTERIEL 2 A
considered that the recoverability of the loans receivable =
was uncertain and have determined to record full provision
for these loans.
17. INVENTORIES 17. &
Inventories (consolidated) consist of: HEGFEERIE
2001 2000
$000 $7000
Fr T
Merchandise held for trading through operation of ~ BEBELEEFEE
e-commerce platform TaREEREZEm 728 3,631
Less: Provision for obsolete and slow-moving B BE RE
inventories FERE (728) (2,932)
— 699

There were no inventories (included above) carried at net realisable

value as at 31st December, 2001 (2000 - $699,000).

RZZEZ—F+-_A=+—08 AEFEUTA
FRFEAR(ZEEZTF—49699,00070) °
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18.

19.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Group grants credit periods ranging from 0 to 30 days. An

ageing analysis of accounts receivable (consolidated) is as follows:

0 to 30 days

31 to 60 days

61 to 90 days

91 to 150 days

151 days to 2 years

Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31st December, 2001, the Group’s bank deposits of
approximately $18,048,000 (2000 - $15,450,000) were pledged

as collateral for the Group’s banking facilities (see Note 28).

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

18. EWERIE

AEEFACCRBHOEIORTE - KA
FBUERRRERDOMT -

2001 2000

$7000 $7000

F T Fr

0ZE 30K 370 621
312 60K 13 186
61ZE 90K 1 236
91Z 150K 182 47
151 RE2F 435 342
1,001 1,432

W RIEREE (669) (399)
332 1,033

19. CEEFARTEX

(HMt5%28) ©

R-ZZEZ—F+-_A=+—R0 AEEZR
1777 3 49 18,048,000 (=
15,450,000) EEAAEBRT
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20. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An ageing analysis of accounts payable (consolidated) is as follows:

0 to 30 days

31 to 60 days

61 to 90 days

91 to 150 days
151 days to 1 year

21. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised (ordinary shares
of $0.10 each)
As at 31st December,
2000 and 2001

Issued and fully paid
(ordinary shares of $0.10 each)
As at 31st December, 1999

Repurchase of shares
Issue of new shares

As at 31st December,
2000 and 2001

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

20. ENFERE

0£30K

31E£60K
61£90K
91E 150K
5IREF

21. KA

FEERZA (B EEO0.107T

ZERR)
R_ZEZER T —F
+ZA=+—8

CRTHRRA

(BREEO0.10T 2 @A)
R—hAhhE+=F8

==

A

BATH IR
R-BEER-FE—F
+=-A=+—8

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

RERNERRZREINAT

2001 2000

$/000 $7000

Fr T

25 348

25 54

25 54

175 =

182 7

432 463
Number of

ordinary shares Nominal value

‘000 $7000

EBER#A H1E

TR TT

2,000,000 200,000

480,000 48,000

(8,000) (800

4,237 424

476,237 47,624

)
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208

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has a share option scheme, under which it may
grant options to employees of the Group (including executive
directors of the Company) to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 10% of the nominal value of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding for
this purpose shares issued on exercise of options. The subscription
price will be determined by a duly authorised committee of the
board of directors which includes all the independent non-
executive directors of the Company from time to time. The

subscription price will not be less than (a) the closing price of

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

208

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

ERE

ARAIERUBRENE  TRNAKERE
(BREARAHTES) RHARBARAK

2B ERBKRD ZHE T BBAEXR
AREREETRA ML TEREE
TTE B BT 2 R )) AEZ210% ° B

EREARREZSLARECLZES (B
BRIARZAABLFNTESR)EE - BB
B ER@BRMDRE L BEERPERX
R U T E S (b)Bx i NE 1R BB A E B 3
EREARXZBEEAERFHKRTE AR

the shares quoted on the Growth Enterprise Market on the date of BERE) KABESASERKRMHz@E
offer of the options or (b) the average of the closing prices of the 18 o
shares quoted on the Growth Enterprise Market for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer of the options,
whichever is the higher, provided that the subscription price will
not be lower than the nominal value of the shares.
Movements in share options are: BREZEDHOT
Number of share options
BERERA
Exercise Cancelled
price per Beginning upon End
Date of grant Exercise period share of year Exercised  resignation of year
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
BRIEAS TR BROTKEE £4) BT HBEEE £8/
TR TR TR TR
25th January, 2000 25th January, 2000 to
24th January, 2003 $0.89 2,768 — (1,872) 896
—TTEF —EZEF-A-tIH
—A=+AH E_TT=F-A-tWmAE
15th June, 2000 15th June, 2000 to
14th June, 2003 $0.47 10,780 — (7,272) 3,508
—TTEF —ZETFERATRAZE
~ATHA —TT=FXATHEA
13,548 — (9,144) 4,404
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22. SHARE OPTIONS (Cont’d)

23.

As at 31st December, 2001, the outstanding share options was

analysed as follows:

Exercise price $0.89 71E(E0.89T

Executive directors HITESE
Employees B8

Exercise price $0.47 TEE047
Executive directors HITES
Employees &8

Total B &t

As at 31st December, 2001,

options which exceeded 1% of the issued share capital (2000 —

Nil).

RESERVES

Movements in reserves are:

Consolidated

Re

Balance as at —WANETZA
31st December, 1999 =t+—Bz&#

Share issuance expenditures, BIORM AT (BEMk EF
net of over accrual in prior year ~ EZBEEIRER)

Issuance of shares for acquisition of A4 HE & 2 7]

a subsidiary mETRH
Repurchase of shares BERH
Balance as at 31st December, 2000 —EEZER_TT—F
and 2001 TZR=+-HZ&R

no participants had outstanding

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

22. BRE (E)
HE-_TT—F+-_B=1+—H X17EZ

BRESFTWT :
Number of share options
ERERE
2001 2000
‘000 ‘000
TR T
640 1,280
256 1,488
2,500 6,000
1,008 4,780
4,404 13,548
R-ZEE-—F+_H=+—H ' # ﬂﬂ\ﬂﬁi/\

BEBACEITRA1%BRE(ZZEE

£ —E)
23. fi#te
HEESHMT
Capital
Share redemption Capital Contributed
premium reserve reserve surplus Total
$°000 $°000 $000 $000 $000
LN
koiEE HERE BEXARE BURR R

Fr T Fr Fr Fr

87,706 — 26,020 — 113,726
255 — - — 255
1,186 — — — 1,186
(2,240) 800 = — (1,440)
86,907 800 26,020 — 113,727
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(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

23.  RESERVES (Contd) 23. R (&)
Capital
Share redemption Capital Contributed
premium reserve reserve surplus Total
EXRE
RpiEE e EBEARE BHUERR B
$°000 $7000 $°000 $°000 $°000

fr  fx  Fx  FER T

Company VN
Balance as at —NANETZA

31st December, 1999 =t—Bz&#H 87,706 — — 13,882 101,588
Share issuance expenditures, Bk AX (ENBLF

net of over-accrual in prior year ~ EZBEBRRER) 255 — — — 255
Issuance of shares for acquisition of A4 E 1 7

a subsidiary [iE803% 1,186 — — — 1,186
Repurchase of shares 58 [ ik 17 (2,240 800 — — (1,440)

Balance as at 31st December, 2000 —EEZF[F -_FTT—4F
and 2001 +t-RA=t+—Hz&% 86,907 800 — 13,882 101,589

Under the Companies Law (as amended) of the Cayman Islands, RERSHEQEE(BETAR) » ROEE -
share premium, capital redemption reserve and contributed surplus BABOREEREHABRHAIHIKTRER -
are distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that the HEMORFARDREEEERINHEAR
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution FNEBEZAEREERMAZERE S
out of share premium, capital redemption reserve and contributed BEEETRAZEM  AIRKQAAFEIR
surplus if (i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its RS - JIARDEE - EABLEF#EE
liabilities as they become due, or (ii) the realisable value of its REZBBIEL DR

assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities

and its issued share capital account.

As at 31st December, 2001, the Company had no reserves available RERSHEDEE (BA) RARRER
for distribution to shareholders (2000 - $54,557,000) in HECRZZE—F+-_A=+—HB ' AR
accordance with the Companies Law (as amended) of the Cayman ATEARIEFEE (ZETTF—
Islands and the Company’s articles of association. 54,557,0007E) °
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24.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS STATEMENT 24, MERERERME
a.  Reconciliation of loss before taxation to net cash outflow a. BRUNBEELEEBRMLIFEL
from operating activities: R -
2001 2000
$7000 $°000
Fr Fir
(Note 30)
(K&t 30)
Loss before taxation BREAIEE (70,754) (51,214)
Internet solution service B E D R Z

fees from an associate B PR EREE — (3,920)
Interest income B WA (2,331) (6,947)
Interest expense MEX 844 270
Depreciation of fixed assets EEEENE 2,338 1,461
Amortisation of goodwill B R 429 —
Amortisation of intangible assets BB ESH — 40
Costs for acquisition of websites o B 48 3k 2 PR — 1,243
Loss on a fire accident NEZINZBKR = 2,456
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & M8 A ]2 % A (35) —
Net loss on investment in associates e ARIRE 2 BETE 6,843 571
Provision for loans receivable EWE R RERRE 15,422 =
Impairment of goodwill from acquisitions of U & i B 2 7] B2 HE & 1 7)

a subsidiary and associates FFEAE2ZZRE 1,926 7,968
Provision for impairment of fixed assets [El 7 & B (B R A& 4,494 —
Loss on disposals of fixed assets HEBTEEZEHRE 1,205 195
Decrease in accounts receivable & U5 BR BOR 543 254
Decrease (Increase) in inventories FERA (M) 699 (699)
Decrease in prepayments and deposits RN RIE RS 2,179 113
Decrease in accounts payable JE 5 BR TORL 31) (152)
(Decrease) Increase in accruals and other BRREAMEMERS

payables fRAR Rt ) 12 40 (1,760) 3,428
(Decrease) Increase in receipt in advance T M xE Ori ) 20 (1,143) 959
Net cash outflow from operating activities REEBHR ML R (39,132) (43,974)
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24.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS STATEMENT
(Cont’d)

During the year, the Group disposed of its 33% equity
interest in Forest Information Technology Company Limited
to certain employees of the Group. Total consideration for
the disposal was $850,000 and the Group agreed to waive
receivables from the Forest Information Technology Company
Limited of approximately $1,724,000. As at 31st December,
2001, no payment was received for this disposal and the
transfer of 33% equity interest had been effected since 31st
August, 2001. The Directors reviewed and evaluated the
recoverability of the consideration of the disposal and in
this connection determined to record a provision for the
receivable of $850,000.

Details of the assets and liabilities disposed of as at the

date of disposal of interests in a subsidiary are as follows:

Fixed assets

Accounts receivable

Prepayment, deposits and other current assets
Cash and bank balances

Due to a holding company

Accruals and other payables

Finance lease obligations

Net liabilities of the subsidiary upon disposal
Share of net liabilities by minority interest
Net liabilities of the subsidiary disposed of
Amount of payables waived

Disposal gain

Less: Provision for doubtful receivable

Cash consideration received

Cash outflow from disposal of interests in a subsidiary

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

24, WERERERME (B)

b. AEERAFERAEEETEELE
HBAREBNEHEBR A RRAE% - 2K
{8/4850,0007T * MAEBREREHK
REMBR AR AR TR 2 FEUERE L
1,724,000 ° 22 —EF—F+=- A
=T—BYRKE LR HEZFIE M
BWREZEEENR_ET—F/\F=
T—HER - BEFERHT G0 5N
EIHE 7 RERTIE 2205 - Wikl
R TE /& FE UK BR ZR{E 1 850,000 7T # 5 °

RNEENBAREREBMEEZEERSE

BEREBWT :

$7000

Fr
ETEE 291
JE U5 BR 3R 158
BNRE ReNEMRDHEE 36
Be RBITES 23
JEHHE AR A &) Z0E (1,724)
BIRE R K E A EER (559)
B M A AHE (44)
HERHBAREARGETHE (1,819)
LEREMMEAETEE 60
HEZHEAREEFE (1,759)
B e 5 1,724
& W s 885
B BB REREE (850)
BUWRERE —
HEMBAR 2R S R (23)
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Analysis of changes in financing is as follows:

Balance as at
31st December, 1999

Share issuance expenditures,
net of over-accrual in
prior year

Issue of ordinary shares for
acquisition of a subsidiary

Attributable to acquisition of
interests in a subsidiary

Repurchase of shares

New short-term bank loan

Increase in due to a related
company

Cash injected by minority
shareholders

Website injected by a minority
shareholder

Share of loss for the year

Balance as at
31st December, 2000
New short-term bank loans

Repayment of short-term bank loans
Attributable to disposal of interests

in a subsidiary (Note 24.b)
Share of loss for the year

Balance as at
31st December, 2001

—WANE+TZA
=t-BZ&EH
BABRH X
(EHBLFEE
ZBERRER)
BUEEH B A
i 3 17 B 17
L1l NG
EamEL
fRE KD
HiEE

R1T

5 2
B\

DEBRIEA
ZBE
DEREIEA
2 B
REEDEBR

MERHRTER
EBERBRITER
R =ING L
mEE (£24.6)
AEE D EER

“E52-%+_H
=t+—Hz &%

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS STATEMENT 24.
(Cont’d)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

GEREREBERWE (B)

c. MEEHZAMMT :

Share capital Short-term Due to

and share bank  arelated  Minority
premium loans  company interests Total
$7000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $000

BAR REHERT TBE JHER
ROEE EX QANE B X
T T T T T
135,706 — — 4 135,710
255 — — — 255
1,610 — — — 1,610
— — — 333 333
(3,040) = — = (3,040)
— 10,660 — — 10,660
— — 182 — 182
— — — 1,553 1,553
_ _ — 1,243 1,243
— — — (2,639) (2,639)
134,531 10,660 182 494 145,867
— 13,604 - — 13,604
— (10,660) — — (10,660)
— - - 60 60
— — — (174) (174)
134,531 13,604 182 380 148,697




Notes to the Financial Statements

25.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

The Group is organised into three major business segments, namely

content solution segment, the IT enabling technology segment

and the strategy investment segment. An analysis of the Group’s

results by business segment is as follows:

TURNOVER
Sales to external customers

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
Segment results

Unallocated expenses

Interest income
Interest expense

Net loss on investment in associates

Taxation

Loss after taxation but before
minority interests

Depreciation and amortisation

Provision for impairment of
fixed assets

Impairment of goodwill from
acquisition of an associate

OTHER INFORMATION
Segment assets

Unallocated assets

Segment liabilities

Unallocated liabilities

Capital expenditures

(B = B #5535

2B BT REN)

25. 2EESR
REBEE=ZHETEER WP LELEMBER
HRER - BB RS & AR E R R
REZR - UEBE D2 AEBEEHI TN
o
2001
—2E-F
Content  IT enabling Strategic
solution  technology  investment Total
$7000 $000 $000 $000
WMEER BRANER
BRAR R A5 RHERE wmm
Fr Fr Fr Fr
]
MINAEFHE 2,775 1,236 — 4,011
REBR
ECES (18,997) (10,523) (22,043) (51,563)
AP BEHRX (13,835)
(65,398)
S MA 2,331
MEXH (844)
HENRREZBRFE (6,843)
HIE (198)
RS E! 5&““ #
REE=RRIEE (70,952)
hEREH 1,548 672 547 2,767
BB 3,435 873 186 4,494
W bg B & A A T E
EHREZRE = = 1,926 1,926
NEEE 1,513 325 18,971 20,809
AP HEEE 29,772
50,581
NEERE (1,180) (493) (16,024) (17,697)
AeH AR (1,101)
(18,798)
BARAX 1,143 474 89 1,706




Notes to the Financial Statements

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

TURNOVER
Sales to external customers

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
Segment results

Unallocated expenses

Interest income

Interest expense

Net loss on investment
in associates

Loss on a fire accident

Taxation

Loss after taxation but before
minority interests

Depreciation and amortisation

Impairment of goodwill from
acquisitions of a subsidiary and
associates

OTHER INFORMATION

Segment assets

Unallocated assets

Segment liabilities

Unallocated liabilities

Capital expenditures
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(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

(BB HEBI - 2B ETREN)

25. 2BEN (B)

2000
—EETF

Content  IT enabling Strategic
solution  technology  investment Total
$7000 $7000 $7000 $7000

MLEBEH EBERABER

R R EHE R REIRE e
T T T T
3,499 6,795 1,200 11,494
(23,679) (861) (19,401) (43,941)
(10,923)
(54,864)
6,947
(270)
(571)
(2,456)
(86)
(51,300)
908 500 93 1,501
— — 7,968 7,968
7,927 2,988 36,848 47,763
74,330
122,093
(3,605) (1,873) (13,448) (18,926)
(492)
(19,418)
5,093 2,294 376 7,763




Notes to the Financial Statements

25.

26.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

No geographical analysis of the Group’s turnover and loss
attributable to shareholders is presented as less than 10% of the
consolidated turnover and less than 10% of the consolidated loss
attributable to the shareholders of the Group are attributable to

markets outside Hong Kong.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

As at 31st December, 2001, the Group had total operating lease
commitments in respect of rented premises under various non-
cancellable operating lease agreements extending to July 2003.
The total amount of commitments payable under these agreements

as at 31st December, 2001 is analysed as follows:

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

25.

26.

(BB EEBI - 2B ETREN)

PEER (&)
ARREBEMIN TS ARBRSERE
B AR REEERELI10% L &
RAGRECEEBRRRREGERELERE
AT

REBEORRE

RZZBZE—F+_A=1+—H F5ERE
% ZFLAZHERMRZAA

HEREHOMARITRERNEE - R
TZA=1T—H REZZHERE

Consolidated Company
) AL
2001 2000 2001 2000
$7000 $7000 $°000 $°000
Fr T Fr T
Amounts payable ARTIHRX M2 &5

— within one year — — K 2,914 4,711 — —
— within two to five years — ZEZRFER 1,460 3,513 — —
4,374 8,224 — —




Notes to the Financial Statements

27/

PENSION SCHEME

From 1st December, 2000, the Group has arranged for its Hong
Kong employees to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the Group and its employees makes monthly
contribution to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as
defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation, subject
to a cap of $1,000 per month and thereafter contributions are

voluntary.

During the year ended 31st December, 2001, the aggregate amount
of employer’s contribution made by the Group to the MPF Scheme
was approximately $478,000 (2000 - $65,000).

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
subsidiaries in Mainland China are required to contribute to a
state-sponsored retirement plan for its employees in Mainland
China. According to the rules prevailing in Mainland China, the
Group is required to contribute approximately 11% to 15% of
the basic salary of its employees in Mainland China, and has no
further obligations for the actual pension payments or post-
retirement benefits. The state-sponsored retirement plan is
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees. During the year, approximately $139,000 (2000 -
$175,000) was paid by the Mainland China subsidiaries with

respect to such retirement plan.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)

27.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

28.

29.

30.

BANKING FACILITIES AND PLEDGE OF BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31st December, 2001, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of approximately $13,604,000 (2000 - $10,660,000) from
a bank for short-term loans which were all utilised as at the same
date. The banking facilities were secured by the Group’s pledged
bank deposits of approximately $18,048,000 (2000 - $15,450,000).
Subsequent to 31st December, 2001, approximately $3,580,000

pledged bank deposits have been released.

ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Directors consider Asian Dynamics International Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, to be the

ultimate holding company.
COMARATIVE FIGURES
Certain prior year comparative figures have been reclassified with

the adoption of SSAP 26 and in conformity with the current year’s

presentation.

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise stated)
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